

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Diabetes Self-Management Education in the Urban Low Socioeconomic Status Senior Population

Heather Santa Barbara *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Family, Life Course, and Society Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Heather Santa Barbara

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Carol Spaulding, Committee Chairperson, Health Education and Promotion Faculty Dr. Theresa Gibble, Committee Member, Health Education and Promotion Faculty Dr. Jill Nolan, University Reviewer, Health Education and Promotion Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Diabetes Self-Management Education in the Urban Low Socioeconomic Status Senior

Population

by

Heather Santa Barbara

MA, Drexel University, 2010

BS, University of Delaware, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Education and Promotion

Walden University

June 2022

Abstract

This exploratory quantitative study used a survey design to address a gap in the literature concerning primary care team perceptions about diabetes care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. Diabetes is a chronic health problem that is often managed in primary care offices, and primary care teams are often the first source of education and support for patients. Standards of management for seniors with diabetes has changed to eliminate tight control of glucose levels, and primary care team members may have differing perceptions about diabetes care depending upon their role in the primary care team and years of experience. The purpose of this study was to assess attitudes and perceptions among a group of primary care team members for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. Using constructs from the health belief model, the study considered two research questions addressing the relationships among care team member perceptions and beliefs about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the psychosocial impact of diabetes and patient autonomy and the role on the care team and if years of experience significantly related to primary care team members' perceptions of the value of tight control of glucose. The Diabetes Attitude Scale-3 was used to collect responses from 150 primary care team members. Results showed a correlation between years of experience and value of tight control. No significant relationship was observed between role on care team and perceptions of diabetes. This study contributes to health education and promotion by identifying gaps in diabetes knowledge in primary care teams and has the potential to advance positive social change by providing health educators with information to improve diabetes education programs.

Primary Care Teams Perceptions of Diabetes in Urban Low Socioeconomic Status

Seniors

by

Heather Santa Barbara

MA, Drexel University, 2010

BS, University of Delaware, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Education and Promotion

Walden University

June 2022

Acknowledgments

I wish to acknowledge several people for their valuable assistance throughout the completion of this doctoral degree. First, I would like to thank my family for their unwavering support during endless writing sessions. I would like to thank my husband, Ray, for his endless support and encouragement. He supported my dream to obtain this degree. Second, I would like to thank my mother for teaching me that anything is possible and to always persevere through challenges. Her never-ending optimism helped to push me through the hardest times. Last but not least, my chair and committee member who supported and guided this journey. Thank you for all of your advice, patience, and encouragement.

List of Tables	V
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background	4
Problem Statement	7
Purpose	
Research Questions	11
Theoretical Framework	
Nature of the Study	
Definitions	17
Assumptions	
Scope and Delimitations	
Limitations	
Significance	21
Summary	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
Introduction	
Literature Search Strategy	
Theoretical Foundation	27
Conceptual Framework	

Table of Contents

2021 ADA Guidelines for Geriatrics	
Diabetes Self-Management	
Primary Care Team Providers	
Provider Attitude Toward the Need for Special Training	
Provider Attitude Toward the Seriousness of Diabetes	
Provider Attitude Toward the Value of Tight Control	
Provider Attitude Toward the Psychosocial Impact of Diabetes	
Provider Attitudes on Patient Autonomy	
Perceived Susceptibility	40
Perceived Severity	40
Perceived Benefits	41
Perceived Barriers for Patients	42
Barriers for Providers	42
Cues to Action	43
Self-Efficacy	43
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Method	45
Introduction	45
Research Design and Rationale	45
Methodology	47
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	49
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	51
Operationalization	52
Data Analysis Plan	55
Assumptions	58
Threats to Validity	60
Ethical Procedures	61
Summary	62
Chapter 4: Results	63
Introduction	63
Data Collection	65
Baseline and Descriptive Demographics of the Sample	66
Data Analysis	
Results	69
Summary	73
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	75
Introduction	75
Interpretation of the Findings	77
Theoretical Framework	81
Limitations of the Study	83
Recommendations for Further Study	
Implications for Social Change	85

Conclusion/Summary	87
References	89
Appendix A: Personal Attitudes of Diabetes Questionnaire for Health	
Professionals	104
Appendix B: Sample Population	110
Appendix C: Permission for Use	111

List of Tables

Table 1. Table for Statement Scoring	54
Table 2. Demographics of Participants	66
Table 3. Possible Response Scoring Ranges	. 67
Table 4. Summary of Responses	. 68
Table 5. Results for the Correlation Analysis of Variables	71
Table 6. MANOVA Results	72
Table 7. Correlations	73

List of Figures

Figure 1. Primary Care Team Characteristics and Perceptions	14
Figure 2. Primary Care Team Characteristics and Perceptions	32
Figure 3. Primary Care Team Characteristics and Perceptions	60
Figure 4. Primary Care Team Characteristics and Perceptions	82

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

Diabetes is a progressive chronic disease that affects the whole body (DeFronzo, 2009). Type 2 diabetes is a condition where at least eight different body processes break down, leading to increased sugar in the bloodstream (DeFronzo, 2009). This increased sugar causes systemic organ damage that usually happens quietly and slowly over time. Patients often underestimate the health impacts of diabetes because they do not feel the small systemic changes occurring over time (American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2021). Diabetes requires daily management. Primary care teams are the first line supporters and educators for diabetes self-management and help with complex daily decisions to stabilize blood sugar (Al-Ali et al., 2020). They support their senior patients through diabetes progression and aging. Thus, primary care teams have an opportunity to impact clinical outcomes by offering quality diabetes self-management education programs that target the needs of the urban low socioeconomic status senior population.

The 2021 ADA Standards of Care for Geriatrics has stressed the recommendations for blood glucose control related to advanced age and comorbidities (ADA, 2021). However, the medication and lifestyle regimen required for tight blood sugar control provide little value to quality of life and longevity for seniors with comorbidities (ADA, 2021). Tight control means that the blood glucose range is strictly restricted to an average of 154 mg/dL, or hemoglobin A1C of 7%, using medications and lifestyle management (ADA, 2021). Hemoglobin A1C is a laboratory test that measures the percentage of sugar attached to blood's hemoglobin protein. Less control allows for a

blood glucose average of 212mg/dL, or hemoglobin A1C of 9%, while relying less on medications and medication regimen adherence, and less restrictions to lifestyle modifications that may be hard for seniors to maintain (ADA, 2021). One of the risks of tight blood glucose control is hypoglycemia. Hypoglycemic episodes can have severe health consequences, including hospitalization and death. Instead, the ADA (2021) has suggested avoidance of hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia instead of tight control. These new guidelines are different from the previous ADA guidelines and require changes in practice for primary care teams who care for geriatric patients with diabetes. In addition to changing their clinical practices, primary care teams also need to change the health education they provide so that patients can successfully manage their own care.

Only 51.7% of adults aged 18 years and older with diagnosed diabetes have ever received formal diabetes self-management education and support (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020). Diabetes education and support needs to be offered throughout the disease progression to help patients manage and cope with age and disease related changes (Association of Diabetes Care and Education Specialists [ADCES], 2020). Age-related changes include decreased eyesight, decreased sensory perception, and decreased dexterity (ADA, 2021). The medical management of seniors with diabetes is more complicated because they often have multiple comorbid conditions that impact their management (Kalyani et al., 2017). They may have macrovascular complications such as acute myocardial infarction, stroke, and end-stage renal disease (Kalyani et al., 2017). Urban low socioeconomic status seniors may also struggle with food insecurity, access to care, and lack of social support (Bustill's & Sharkey, 2020).

These conditions may affect medication regimen adherence, diet plan adherence, and blood glucose monitoring adherence. Primary care teams are often the first source of education and support for patients (Al-Ali et al., 2020). Therefore, research about the care teams' perceptions of diabetes self-management for low socioeconomic status urban seniors can help the care teams understand the unique patients' needs. Understanding the perceptions of the primary care team can help to improve the team's ability to engage patients in diabetes education. Primary care providers can better serve their community by promoting health and education in a way that benefits the patients. This study was completed to better understand the perceptions of the primary care team about diabetes and urban low socioeconomic status seniors. Primary care teams are the primary source of diabetes education and support (ADCES, 2020). In addition, seniors often have special needs. Moreover, patients with diabetes have improved health outcomes after receiving diabetes education (ADCES, 2020). Thus, the positive social implications are better health outcomes for urban low socioeconomic status seniors.

This chapter includes background information on diabetes self-management education and the gap in knowledge surrounding the provider perspective. Chapter 1 also addresses the problem statement and purpose of studying diabetes self-management from the provider perspective. The research questions and hypotheses are described, the theoretical framework is discussed, and the nature of the study is outlined. In addition, key concepts are defined, and assumptions and scope and delimitations are stated. Finally, the limitations the significance of the study are presented.

Background

Over 34 million Americans have diabetes, and 26.8%, or 14 million, of that number are over the age of 65 (ADA, 2018). In response to these high rates, Healthy People 2030 has identified the need to reduce the burden of diabetes and improve the quality of life of those living with diabetes (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2019). Atlantic County, New Jersey, is identified as a community in need because it has the second highest diabetes prevalence in the state of New Jersey (New Jersey Department of Health, 2019). There are many seniors living in poverty, with the largest population located in the county's urban Atlantic City area. In Atlantic County, people over the age of 65 have a 7% poverty rate versus the state rate of 8.8%; however, the poverty rate for people over the age of 65 in Atlantic City is 24% (United States Census Bureau, 2019). Seniors are susceptible to other health conditions that can complicate the control of diabetes, including high blood pressure, high cholesterol, and obesity (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). Moreover, seniors with comorbid conditions and barriers to optimal health can struggle with diabetes selfmanagement skills. Urban low socioeconomic status seniors carry the burden of diabetes, which may affect their quality of life.

Seniors have special needs. For example, age-related health changes can affect the way seniors comprehend and manage chronic diseases (Saunders, 2019). Age-related health changes can also be barriers to diabetes self-management (Wu et al., 2019). Eyesight, dexterity, fine motor skills, social isolation, and neuropathy can inhibit a patient from effectuating skills they had previously mastered (Wu et al., 2019). These barriers

may cause patients to refrain from taking on diabetes self-management skills (Saunders, 2019). Seniors may feel competent with diabetes self-management but often do not have the opportunity to engage because of economic, physical, and social barriers (Bustill's & Sharkey, 2020). Economic barriers include fixed incomes and Medicare restrictions. Physical barriers can include decreases in sensory abilities and hand-eye coordination, as well as decreases in overall strength. Social barriers can include isolation and decreases in peers for support. Older adults who have established support systems are more successful with some diabetes self-management skills than seniors without social support systems (Werfalli et al., 2020). Researchers who have looked at older adults and barriers to diabetes self-management also found four distinctive themes, including a lack of knowledge and understanding around the need for diabetes self-management, challenges to self-management implementation including age-related barriers, cultural and language barriers, and poor relationships with healthcare providers (Saunders, 2019). Seniors also have special needs related to their age-related physical, mental, and social characteristics. Physical needs can include assistance with hearing, eyesight, hand-strength, and mobility (Carneiro Vicente et al., 2020). Their mental health needs may include health issues with dementia, depression, or impaired cognition (Bustillos & Sharkey, 2020). Their social needs may include special accommodations for disabilities (Bustillos & Sharkey, 2020). They also benefit from strong care provider relationships built on trust and open communication (Saunders, 2019).

Patients in urban environments have access to community resources, but they may also be vulnerable to public safety concerns (Tzeng et al., 2017). Low socioeconomic status urban adults have barriers such as a lack of resources, poor perceived quality of care, and low patient engagement barriers that can negatively influence diabetes selfmanagement (Whittemore et al., 2019). Older adults in the United States from lower socioeconomic statuses are less likely to receive diabetes self-management education, and, therefore, have less of an understanding of diabetes self-management (Boakye et al., 2018). Urban seniors can benefit from diabetes self-management education; however, their special needs related to age and environment need to be taken into consideration when providing the education and support for diabetes self-management (Tzeng et al., 2017). Age-related health issues include the development of many progressive chronic disease such as heart disease, lung disease, osteoporosis, and falls related to deconditioning. Coping with age-related changes and chronic disease can decrease the senior's ability to function and move about freely in their community. De Man et al. (2019) completed a qualitative study of people with diabetes from different socioeconomic statuses. They found that improving patient-provider interaction, improving health service delivery, and encouraging community initiatives supporting self-management improved diabetes self-management. Provider support can impact diabetes related outcomes for urban low socioeconomic status seniors (De Man et al., 2019).

Receiving ongoing care from the same consistent provider and having positive patient provider interactions positively influences patient health outcomes (De Man et al., 2019). Providers support patients to make positive modifications in the physical environment, such as accessing community resources for healthy food. For example, Reyes et al. (2017) found that food insecurity and balancing life stressors about family obligations and financial worries impacts diabetes self-management among people of low socioeconomic status. They also revealed that people from low socioeconomic status in urban and rural areas had difficulty making good health decisions regarding their diabetes care because of the identified stressors. The care team is a source of support and knowledge for seniors with diabetes if they understand the population's specific needs and they have positive relationships with their patients (De Man et al., 2019; Reyes et al., 2017). However, there is a gap in knowledge regarding the diabetes-related perceptions of providers who care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. Understanding their perceptions can aid educators in developing provider education programs to help improve their understanding of diabetes care and management for urban low socioeconomic status seniors.

Problem Statement

ADA standards of care for geriatric patients have evolved over time. A few years ago, the standards supported strict adherence to blood glucose ranges and hemoglobin A1C targets (ADA, 2015). The goal of this practice was to promote longevity and to decrease the risk of complications (ADA, 2015). However, this practice resulted in episodes of hypoglycemia and poor outcomes, such as hospitalization and death (ADA, 2021). This practice also resulted in high burden of daily diabetes care and decision making for seniors (ADA, 2021). The new standards have more relaxed blood glucose ranges and less focus on hemoglobin A1C levels (ADA, 2021). These new standards instead focus on controlling diabetes to decrease the risk of hypoglycemia and severe

hyperglycemia. The new standards also focus on decreasing the burden of diabetes and decreasing the risk of complications while promoting quality of life, but they do not prioritize longevity. The care team is a source of support and knowledge for seniors with diabetes if they understand the population's specific needs and they have positive relationships with their patients (De Man et al., 2019; Reyes et al, 2017).

Changes in the ADA standards of care over time may impact care team practices. More experienced care team members may continue to practice by the older standards, while care team members with less experience may have been taught the newer standards in school. Urban low socioeconomic status seniors are a specialized population for care providers. Low-socioeconomic status seniors often transition from living independently in the community to requiring assistance with activities of daily living as they cope with chronic health conditions (Lee et al., 2019). They have additional struggles with finances that place a heavier burden on their ability to care for themselves (Lee et al., 2019). They may also have age-related health characteristics such as decreased fine motor skills and decreased sensory perceptions that may impede their ability to continue diabetes management (ADA, 2021). Manipulating medication bottles, preparing insulin and selfinjecting, reading instructions, and finger-stick testing of blood glucose are a few diabetes self-care skills that require fine motor skills and sensory perception. These factors contribute to their ability to self-manage their diabetes effectively and can increase the burden of diabetes care and may limit the control of blood sugar.

Diabetes requires self-management, and everyday decisions require the individual to have some insight into how their choices can affect blood sugar readings and long-term

control of blood glucose to prevent complications. The diabetes self-management skills include healthy eating, being active, monitoring blood sugars and health status, taking medications, problem-solving, reducing risks, and healthy coping (ADCES, 2020). Empowerment through education is a critical component of improved self-management skills (Shin & Lee, 2017).

Primary care teams provide care for people with diabetes and can include medical doctors, advance practice nurses, nurses, registered dietitians, and social workers (Oliveira & Franco, 2021). Geriatric care is a specialized population for primary care teams, and geriatrics have specialized guidelines for care. The primary care team for this population must understand the unique needs of urban low socioeconomic status seniors who are living in the community to provide education and resources that will help them succeed in managing their diabetes (Koponen et al., 2017). The care team must also understand and practice the latest care guidelines for diabetes management in seniors (Oliveira & Franco, 2021). Years of experience and role on the care team may affect the perceptions of diabetes care.

There is a gap in literature concerning the primary care teams' perceptions about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy when providing care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. These perceptions may differ depending on the role in the primary care team. Due to the change in ADA guidelines, additional research about primary care teams' perceptions of the value of blood glucose control for urban low socioeconomic status seniors is essential not only for optimal patient care but to identify health education needs for both providers and patients. Improved understanding of how their own perceptions may impact diabetes management can better equip providers to understand the seniors' needs and develop patient education programs to meet these needs.

Purpose

The purpose of this quantitative study was to assess the attitudes and perceptions among a group of primary care team members about the need for special training about diabetes for providers who educate and care for patients, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The value of tight control has changed over time with the ADA geriatric guidelines. Older guidelines have promoted tight control for better health outcomes. New guidelines recognize the risks of hypoglycemia associated with tight control and the burden associated with tight control, and they promote a level of control that reduces the risk of hypoglycemia and severe hyperglycemia while supporting quality of life (ADA, 2021). Hypoglycemia and severe hyperglycemia can cause injury, hospitalizations, and death. Thus, examining the attitudes and perceptions of the primary care team provided information about the needs of team members as diabetes self-management educators. In this quantitative study, I used the Diabetes Attitude Scale-3 (DAS-3) tool to explore the sample group's perception of need for special training, seriousness of diabetes, value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes and patient autonomy in self-management for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. A copy of the DAS-3 is located in Appendix A.

Research Questions

Research Question (RQ)1: Are there statistically significant relationships among perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes?

 H_01 : There are no statistically significant relationships among the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial social impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 H_a1 : There are statistically significance relationships among the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial social impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

This question was answered by correlation analysis. The variables were perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy.

RQ2: Are there statistically significant differences in the ratings of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (provider, nurse, dietitian, social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes? H_02 : There are no statistically significant differences in the rating of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (provider, nurse, dietitian, social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 H_a2 : There are statistically significant differences in the rating of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (provider, nurse, dietitian, social worker) among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

The dependent variables included perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy. The independent variable was the team role among primary care teams for low-socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The question was answered by multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA).

RQ3: What is the relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes?

 H_0 3: There is no statistically significant relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

The dependent variable was perceived value of tight control. The independent variable was years of experience among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The question was answered by correlation.

Theoretical Framework

The health beliefs and perceptions of the primary care providers impact the education that they deliver to the patients (Anderson et al., 1998). This study included some constructs of the health belief model. The providers' beliefs and perceptions about diabetes and diabetes self-management may be influenced by their role on the care team and their years of experience. The health belief model includes the concepts of perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, perceived benefits, perceived barriers, a cue to action, and self-efficacy (Rimer et al., 2005). Seniors may be more engaged in diabetes education if they perceive they are susceptible to complications and the complications are severe. Seniors may also see diabetes education as a benefit that removes barriers to selfcare and promotes autonomy and independence. The health belief model is a theory that helps to explain the individual's engagement in controlling their diabetes. Diabetes education has been linked to improved quality of life in studied populations (Andrich & Foronda, 2020; Bustillos & Sharkey, 2020; Tavakkoli et al., 2018). The primary care team provides the cue to action for their patients. Their own beliefs and perceptions may influence the engagement and the delivery of meaningful education on diabetes selfmanagement skills (Kurnia et al., 2017). Understanding the primary care teams' perceptions of the diabetes, especially the value of control, can assist primary care programs to design diabetes education programs that engage and meet the needs of urban low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. Figure 1 shows the primary care team characteristics and perceptions impact on their diabetes management.

Figure 1

Primary Care Team Characteristics and Perceptions



Nature of the Study

This was an exploratory quantitative study with a survey design for the primary care team of urban low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The primary care team (providers, nurses, dietitians, or social workers) perceptions of the concepts of the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of control, the psychosocial impact, and patient autonomy were explored. Data were collected through the established survey tool. I administered the DAS-3 survey, developed by Anderson et al. (1998) and collected data about the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status senior with diabetes (see Anderson et al., 1998). The survey had a 5-point Likert scale that required the respondent to rate their degree of agreement with each statement (see Anderson et al., 1998). This rating system may not deliver true equal intervals of agreement but provided nominal data that were used in statistical analysis to answer the RQs. The electronic survey was distributed by email link to multiple email groups for primary care providers, physician extenders, primary care dieticians, primary care social workers, and primary care nurses.

The dependent variables were perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The independent variables were team roles and years of experience for primary care teams who provide diabetes care and management for low socioeconomic status seniors. Each RQ addressed a different aspect of these variables. The first question addressed the correlations among all the dependent variables. The second question addressed the relationship of team role and the dependent variables. The third question addressed the relationship of years of experience with value of blood glucose control. ADA guidelines for blood glucose control have changed, and the diabetes management practices of primary care teams are required to change to meet the new standards of care (ADA, 2021). In this study, I explored different aspects of diabetes and perceptions of primary care teams that care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors.

Multiple correlation was used to identify if there are relationships among perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact. and perceived patient autonomy among primary care providers of low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes (see Warner, 2013). MANOVA was used to determine if there are differences in the ratings of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on the role in the primary care team among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes (see Warner, 2013). Correlation was used to determine if there are differences in the ratings of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on the years of experience among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

Definitions

The main concepts of the study are defined here.

Diabetes self-management skills: The diabetes self-management skills are defined as the essential skills needed by people with diabetes for successful and effective diabetes self-management and include healthy eating, being active, monitoring blood sugars and physical symptoms, taking medications, problem solving, healthy coping, and reducing risks (ADCES, 2020). People with diabetes require support and education to master these skills. Ongoing education and support are necessary to help with regimen adjustments through the life span.

Low socioeconomic status: Socioeconomic status is the social standing or class of an individual or group. It is often measured as a combination of education, income, and occupation (American Psychological Association, 2021). For purposes of this study, low socioeconomic status is defined as income level below the federal poverty level. People below the poverty level usually participate in government assistance programs, such as food stamps, subsidized housing, and medical coverage (Leonard et al., 2017).

Perceived need for special training: The need for primary care team members to have specialized training on diabetes and behavior modification when they care for urban low-socioeconomic status seniors (Anderson et al., 1998).

Perceived patient autonomy: The perceptions of primary care team members about whether urban low socioeconomic status seniors should have autonomy to make daily self-management decisions (Anderson et al., 1998). *Perceived psychosocial impact:* The perception of primary care team members on the psychosocial impact of diabetes on urban low socioeconomic status seniors (Anderson et al., 1998).

Perceived seriousness of diabetes: The degree of importance of diabetes to primary care team members as a chronic disease (Anderson et al., 1998).

Perceived value of tight control: The benefit of glucose control to urban low socioeconomic status seniors (Anderson et al., 1998).

Primary care team: The clinical primary and preventive care providers in the community clinic, including physicians, advance practice nurses, physician assistants, nurses, registered dietitians, and social workers. These are front line professionals who are working with the population on a regular basis (Schottenfeld et al., 2016).

Role on the care team: Specific role on team. Roles include primary care provider (PCP), nurse, or social worker. PCPs include physicians, advanced practice nurses, and physician assistants.

Seniors with diabetes: People over age 55 with diabetes. Seniors have special needs related to their age-related physical, mental, and social characteristics. Physical needs can include assistance with hearing, eyesight, hand-strength, and mobility. Their mental health needs may include health issues with dementia, depression, or impaired cognition. Their social needs may include special accommodations for disabilities. Older adults who have established support systems are more successful with some diabetes self-management skills than seniors without social support systems (Werfalli et al., 2020). Researchers who looked at older adults and barriers to diabetes self-management also

found four distinctive themes, including a lack of knowledge and understanding around the need for diabetes self-management, challenges to self-management implementation including age-related barriers, cultural and language barriers, and poor relationships with healthcare providers (Saunders, 2019).

Tight control: The practice of following medication and lifestyle interventions to maintain blood glucose within a well-defined range and maintaining a hemoglobin A1C of less than 7% (ADA, 2015). Looser control allows for individualized medication and lifestyle interventions to maintain individualized blood glucose targets and a hemoglobin A1C less than 9% (ADA, 2021).

Years of experience: Number of years practicing in the profession/role.

Assumptions

The participants were recruited through primary care education and interests email group lists. The assumptions in this study were that the DAS-3 measured the provider attitudes towards diabetes. I assumed that the participants provided direct patient care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes and provided diabetes education. I also assumed that participants cooperated with the survey process and completed the entire survey in a timely manner to be included in the study. Additionally, I assumed that the surveyed population fully answered the survey accurately and honestly. The DAS-3 is a validated and reliable tool (Anderson et al., 1998). I assumed that the tool accurately measured the attitudes and perceptions of primary care team members about diabetes. These basic assumptions were necessary to answer the RQs.

Scope and Delimitations

I used an exploratory approach to assess the primary care team's attitudes and perceptions towards diabetes management for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The scope of this project included the perceptions and attitudes of the primary care team on the perceived need for special training for care providers, the perceived seriousness of diabetes, the perceived value of tight control, the perceived psychosocial impact, and the perceived patient autonomy. The primary care team's attitudes and perceptions of these concepts can influence their treatment of diabetes and the quality of patient education that they provide (Sibounheuang et al., 2019). The scope of this project did not cover perceived susceptibility or severity of diabetes or perceived barriers and benefits to diabetes self-management or other specific concepts from the health belief model. I explored primary care teams' perceptions of needs for special training, seriousness of diabetes, value of tight control, psychosocial impact, and patient autonomy. The population targeted was primary care team members for low socioeconomic status urban seniors with diabetes.

Limitations

Barriers to conducting this study were the recruitment of participants. To participate, primary care team members were expected to complete the survey. Primary care team members were difficult to recruit because of time constraints and competing priorities. I engaged the care providers through the research process to encourage their participation. The sample was a convenience sample; this impacted the generalizability of the results. Because this was a nonrandom sample from one geographic location, the results are limited and will not be applicable to other locations. Primary care team members were recruited through email groups of providers who practiced in the county.

Significance

Poor diabetes outcomes are associated with lower education, low health literacy, and social barriers to health (Niknami, 2018). The primary care team is the front-line staff who provides diabetes education and supports diabetes self-management skills in the community. There is vast research on diabetes topics, but few studies have addressed providers' perspectives that can ultimately contribute to patient diabetes management and engagement in self-management skills for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. Closing this gap in the literature provides valuable information to care providers as they engage patients in diabetes education.

This study is directly related to health education and promotion and contributes to identification of areas where provider education is needed to deliver the standards of care and education to urban low socioeconomic status seniors. Primary care teams provide diabetes self-management education and are expected to follow the latest guidelines. The attitudes and perceptions of primary care teams about diabetes can impact their diabetes education programs. The bias and attitudes that the primary care teams have towards diabetes can influence their self-management education to urban low socioeconomic status seniors (Sibounheuang et al., 2019). Their beliefs and following outdated guidelines can influence their degree of blood sugar control. Findings from this study can help identify areas where primary care teams need more support and education in diabetes management for geriatric populations. Also, results may assist providers to

develop quality education programs that effectively disseminate education to seniors with diabetes so that they have the tools that they need to make daily decisions that affect their blood glucose. Improved diabetes self-management and quality of life can allow these seniors to function in the community and can thus offer positive social change to the community (Funnell et al., 2014). Improving the number of adults who receive diabetes education can contribute to improved health in Atlantic County and progress towards the Healthy People 2030 goal (see New Jersey Department of Health, 2019; Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020).

Summary

Chapter 1 included general descriptions and key concepts to introduce the study and assist in the understanding of the project details. The background of diabetes selfmanagement and the role of the primary care team was introduced. Diabetes burden is identified as a national problem that affects public health. Primary care teams are the main educators and supporters of diabetes self-management for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The purpose of the study was to assess the attitudes and perceptions of primary care teams about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The RQs and hypotheses tested were clearly stated. Chapter 1 also introduced the theoretical framework and the scope and design of the project. Chapter 2 provides a in depth literature review of the key concepts and the main concepts of the health belief model.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

More information is needed on primary care team members' perceptions of diabetes self-management skills for urban seniors from low socioeconomic neighborhoods. There is a gap in literature that has not addressed the primary care teams' perceptions about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy when providing care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. By identifying these perceptions, educators can identify areas where primary care team members need more education. This work can also help providers better understand the seniors' needs and develop patient education programs to meet their needs. Primary care teams assist patients with diabetes by providing ongoing education and support for diabetes self-management skills.

Diabetes is a chronic disease that requires daily self-management to ensure blood glucose control. Self-management skills can be taught to people of all ages; however, age and environmental-related factors can influence how seniors engage in diabetes selfmanagement (Carneiro et al., 2020). Urban low socioeconomic status seniors face special challenges, and their primary care teams need to understand their perspective to provide diabetes self-management education and support that meets their needs (Mogre et al., 2019). Poor diabetes control can cause frequent illness and may impact the perceptions of health-related quality of life for low socioeconomic status urban seniors (ADA, 2021). Urban low socioeconomic status seniors require a level of control that positively influences their health-related quality of life. Primary care teams need to understand the senior's diabetes self-management skill ability and the burden of diabetes on their patients (Mogre et al., 2019). The purpose of the study was to assess the attitudes and perceptions among a group of primary care team members about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors.

Nationally, diabetes management is considered a health issue, as identified in Healthy People 2030 (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020). Healthy People 2030 recognizes the health burden of diabetes on the population. The project has a number of objectives to manage the long-term health of people with diabetes. Healthy People 2030 recognizes the value of diabetes education and has a goal to increase the proportion of persons with diagnosed diabetes who receive formal diabetes education (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020). The ADA provides care providers with published standards of care for geriatric patients (ADA, 2021). These standards include blood glucose goals and other health-related goals. Primary care teams help seniors achieve these health goals by offering diabetes education and support for self-management. The basic self-management skills include monitoring blood glucose, eating a healthy diet, being active and exercising, taking medications, correcting high and low blood glucose, and preventing complications (ADCES, 2020). These are the basic skills required for patients to establish autonomy in self-management.

Diabetes education is moving from specialty offices to primary care offices (ADA, 2021). Providers in primary care teams need a good understanding of the latest standards for diabetes management and self-management skills. They also need the
ability to break them down and teach them to their patients. Poor diabetes outcomes are associated with lower education levels, low health literacy, and social barriers to health (Niknami et al., 2018). Primary care teams are the first contact with these patients and can provide education and support for diabetes self-management. Understanding barriers to diabetes self-management for urban low socioeconomic status seniors can help primary care teams to develop diabetes education programs that support self-management and benefit the seniors. There is a gap in knowledge in the provider perspective of low socioeconomic status urban senior patients' ability to complete diabetes self-management skills and the burden of diabetes. Understanding provider perceptions can help educators to provide primary care team members with information they need to provide diabetes management and self-care education for urban low socioeconomic status seniors.

This chapter includes the literature review results on diabetes self-management, seniors with diabetes, low socioeconomic urban environment, diabetes self-management, and provider perspective of diabetes self-management skills. The literature review includes an exploration of the health belief model in diabetes self-management, including provider perceptions or beliefs about diabetes and urban low socioeconomic status seniors. Reviews of relevant literature also included topics on primary care team members' attitudes and perceptions about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors.

Literature Search Strategy

The Walden University Library was used to search the Ebsco Health Sciences database for scholarly peer-reviewed articles from the years 2017 to 2021. The Health Sciences Databases searches several health-related databases at once, including CINAHL, Medline, PsycInfo, ScienceDirect, and several others. The initial search term used was *diabetes*. Next, the elements of the RQs were added, and the search continued using one concept at a time. Search terms used to find relevant articles were *diabetes*, *self management*, *self-management*, *self care*, *self-care*, *self monitoring*, and *self-monitoring*. The search was further refined by searching for the study population. Search terms used to define the population were *elderly*, *aged*, *older*, *elder*, *geriatric*, *elderly people*, *old people*, *older people*, and *seniors*. Also, search terms used to narrow down the search were *urban*, *health belief*, *health education*, *health promotion*, *health teaching*, and *patient education*. The search also included key terms such as *care providers*, *physicians*, *advanced practice nurses*, and *perspectives*. The DAS-3 Survey was located by searching for *provider*, *perceptions*, and *diabetes*.

A separate literature search was also conducted on the health belief model and studies related to *diabetes self-management* and *chronic disease management*. This search was further narrowed down by searching for *provider perspectives*. Only studies from peer-reviewed journals were considered. These studies, along with foundational literature on the health belief model, were used to apply the model to this project. Seminal literature was located and used when searching for the data collection tools. Because there was limited literature that met the exact terms, the literature review did include other populations of people with diabetes. The review also included provider perspectives on self-management for other chronic diseases.

Theoretical Foundation

The health belief model was applied to this study. The health belief model is a theory of health behavior developed in the 1950s by social psychologists to help understand why people were not participating in screening programs designed to detect and prevent disease (Rimer et al., 2005). Becker (1974) first used the model to understand preventive health behaviors better. The theory includes four main constructs, including perceived susceptibility to the disease, perceived severity of the disease, perceived benefits of the intervention, and perceived barriers to behavior change. The theory also includes a cue to action and self-efficacy, which is the confidence to make successful behavior change. The health belief model is straightforward and useful to help understand positive health-related behavior changes (Rimer et al., 2005). Diabetes education and support of self-management is a positive preventative health behavior. The education provides people with diabetes skills to stay healthy and manage their diabetes.

The concepts of the health belief model can be applied to the perceptions of primary care teams about diabetes. PCPs are expected to provide education and support for chronic disease management so that patients benefit from improved quality of life and decreased complications and hospitalizations. The perceptions and attitudes of primary care team members about the need for special training on diabetes, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of control, psychosocial impacts of diabetes, and patient autonomy may influence their management of the disease and their effectiveness at teaching selfmanagement. The health beliefs of primary care team members about diabetes influence their care to urban low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

In a review of literature, five articles from scholarly journals from the last 5 years were found to contain the health belief model and diabetes self-management. Alatawi et al. (2016) used the health belief model to examine the association between health beliefs and medication adherence in patients with diabetes Type 2. The researchers used questionnaires and interviews to determine the relationship between health beliefs and medication adherence. Medication adherence is an essential diabetes self-management skill. The researchers found that the perceived susceptibility, perceived benefits, and selfefficacy were significant predictors for medication regimen adherence. Other researchers looked at behavior changes and diabetes self-management, including motivators and barriers to behavioral modifications required for diabetes self-management (Karl et al., 2020; Schmidt et al., 2020; Swaleh & Yu, 2020). Swaleh and Yu (2020) completed a qualitative study and found that Black Canadians had unique barriers to diabetes selfmanagement, which were based on their health beliefs. Researchers have also found that patients with diabetes maintained healthy behavior changes if they had social support and the support of their health care providers (Schnidt et al., 2020). Karl et al. (2020) used secondary data from a self-administered health questionnaire to determine that participants who perceived low susceptibility to complications did not engage in diabetes self-management skills as often as participants who did see themselves as susceptible. These studies all focused on health beliefs and engagement in diabetes self-management skills.

PCPs' health beliefs influence their management and treatment of diabetes (Koponen et al., 2017). The health belief model was chosen for the project because of its ability to be applied to chronic disease and the prevention of complications in diabetes (see Becker, 1974). Diabetes is a chronic disease that progressively gets worse over time, thus affecting the perception of severity and susceptibility (DeFronzo, 2009). In the beginning, symptoms may be subtle and not affect lifestyle. As time goes on, symptoms and complications, including microvascular and macrovascular issues, cause life-altering and debilitating complications (DeFronzo, 2009). The complications can be slowed down by good blood glucose control, and therefore, complications may not have as devasting of an effect on health-related quality of life (Calenda et al., 2020). Adults who receive diabetes self-management education do better with blood glucose control (Mohammadi et al., 2018). Primary care teams provide diabetes education and support. Their health beliefs and attitudes about diabetes influence their education and support.

A review of the health belief model and care providers' perceptions revealed 17 articles from peer-reviewed literature within the last 5 years. The theory was used to help understand the behaviors of patients related to chronic disease management and preventive care. Some researchers looked at preventative care, such as screenings and vaccination use (Darville et al., 2021; Padilla et al., 2020). Darville et al. (2021) used the key concept of self-efficacy to determine if video game interventions would help young men complete human papilloma virus vaccinations. They found that self-efficacy was a key component of vaccination completion. Padilla et al. (2020) examined the intention to vaccinate against the flu. They found that perceived effectiveness and perceived safety of the vaccination affected the intention to get the vaccination.

Other researchers looked at chronic disease management related to renal disease and other chronic diseases (Chironda & Bhengu, 2018; Jones et al., 2019; Sherbuk et al., 2020). Research about alcohol treatment and provider perceptions revealed that patients were more likely to engage in treatment services if the provider displayed empathy for the patient (Jones et al., 2019). Other researchers looked at patients' compliance with hepatitis C care, and using the health belief model, they found that perceived barriers needed to be addressed by providers to engage the patient in successful treatment followup (Sherbuk et al., 2020). The health belief model was also applied to research patients with kidney disease and their compliance with care (Chironda & Bhengu, 2018). The researchers found that patients were more compliant with care when their support circle also believed in the benefits of treatment and susceptibility of complications without treatment. The health belief of primary care team members about diabetes influences their education and support for diabetes and their patient outcomes.

Exploring the primary care team's attitudes and perceptions of diabetes in urban low socioeconomic status senior populations helped identify the primary care team's role as both educators and supporters of diabetes self-management. Application of the constructs of the demographic variables on perceptions of health from the health belief model helped to understand the relationships between years of experience and perception of tight control. Care providers can educate and support patients to understand the benefits of diabetes self-management and help them overcome barriers to care. The care providers and the patients engage in a journey to manage diabetes and prevent complications together.

Conceptual Framework

Primary care teams are comprised of various members with different roles and years of experience (Schottenfeld et al., 2016). Their individual demographic characteristics may influence their management of diabetes and how they provide diabetes education (Koponen et al., 2017). Diabetes management and education have evolved. There is support for the management of geriatric patients to support looser blood sugar ranges to balance longevity, the burden of diabetes education and support throughout the life span, including the senior years, can help to improve patients' autonomy and ability to self-manage their disease (Kalyani et al., 2017). Because the management of diabetes has evolved, the providers' perceptions of diabetes may not be congruent with current guidelines. Figure 2 provides a conceptual model that illustrates the concepts to be addressed in this study.

Figure 2

Primary Care Team Characteristics and Perceptions



In this model, the perceptions of the primary care team drive positive behavior changes. The perceived need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, psychosocial impact, and patient autonomy can influence how they manage diabetes and teach diabetes self-management. New guidelines promote less stringent control of blood sugars for geriatrics to balance quality of life and long-term health benefits with the burden of diabetes. Measuring primary care team perceptions of the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, psychosocial impact, and patient autonomy can help better understand the primary care team's understanding of the care and management of urban low socioeconomic status seniors.

2021 ADA Guidelines for Geriatrics

The 2021 ADA Standards of Care for Patients with Diabetes included some new updates and changes that affect professional practice (ADA, 2021). The new guidelines include recommendations for geriatrics, including less stringent blood glucose ranges for looser control and less focus on hemoglobin A1C as a measure of control. Instead, the guidelines focus on a wider range for acceptable blood glucose and the reduction of hypoglycemia and severe hyperglycemia events. The geriatric standards address the need for less stringent control of blood glucose levels instead of tight control, as geriatric patients can suffer injury, hospitalization, and even death from hypoglycemic episodes (ADA, 2021). They can also suffer injury, hospitalization, and death from severe hyperglycemia. The guidelines focus on preventing hypoglycemia and severe hyperglycemia instead of strict blood glucose and hemoglobin A1C goals. Previous standards focused on these blood glucose goals and hemoglobin A1C goals as standards of care measures. The changes were made because strict blood glucose ranges have higher incidents of hypoglycemia and poor health outcomes. Strict ranges also increase the burden of tight control on seniors who do not have a focus on longevity. This change in focus stimulates practice changes as primary care team members switch from specific

blood glucose targets and hemoglobin A1C goals to more general outcomes like the prevention of acute hospitalization and death.

Diabetes Self-Management

Diabetes requires multiple daily decisions during all times of the day, and the care providers cannot be with the patient at every decision point of the day. Blood glucose is affected by sleeping, eating, stress, and activity (ADA, 2021). Blood glucose can also be affected by the times of day that these activities occur (ADA, 2021). There are established self-management skills that patients may benefit from learning. Healthy People 2030 establishes the goal to relieve the burden of diabetes. One of their strategies is to create accessibility to diabetes self-management education so that patients have the skills they need to manage their diabetes (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020). Patients who receive diabetes self-management education and have support have better health outcomes (Alanazi, 2021). Patients whose providers deliver patient-centered care and make a connection with the patient also have better health outcomes (Hyman, 2017). The skills include healthy eating, being physically active, taking medications as prescribed, monitoring blood glucose, reducing health risks, coping with the mental burden of diabetes and other life stressors, and problem-solving skills (ADCES, 2020). Patients who receive education have increased knowledge and improved techniques to perform the diabetes self-management skills.

Primary Care Team Providers

Primary care teams comprised of interdisciplinary members have an advantage when managing patients with diabetes (Guo et al., 2020). They have diverse skills and

knowledge that when used collectively to treat and manage diabetes produce better health outcomes for patients (Guo et al., 2020). Primary care teams may consist of physicians, physician extenders such as advanced practice nurses and physician assistants, nurses, dietitians, social workers, and health educators. The presence of a health educator on the primary care team improves patient outcomes (Vitale et al., 2020). The educator takes on the role of patient education so that other care team providers can focus on other aspects of the patient's care (Vitale et al., 2020). The educator can also educate the care team on the standards of care to ensure that the entire team is providing care that meets the latest standards. Primary care teams comprised of interdisciplinary roles successfully decrease barriers to care and understanding by providing care and bringing their individual expertise together to provide high-quality diabetes care (Miller-Rosales & Rodriguez, 2021). Health educators can be a key part of this team.

Provider Attitude Toward the Need for Special Training

PCPs are now the source for chronic disease self-management education (Aweko et al., 2018). They require not only the knowledge of chronic diseases, but they must also have the skill to break down the concepts into understandable pieces for the audience and deliver those pieces of information within the confines of a primary care appointment (De la Cruz et al., 2019). Provider perceptions of diabetes may influence the way they manage and treat urban low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes (Sibounheuang et al.,2019). The quality care and support for diabetes self-management affect the patient's ability to engage in self-management skills (Koponen et al., 2017). The DAS-3 was utilized with Filipino doctors and found that they identified a need for special training to provide diabetes self-management education to their primary care patients (Al-Ali et al., 2020; De la Cruz et al., 2019; Calenda, 2020). The providers identified limitations in their ability to teach diabetes self-management education to patients versus their ability to treat diabetes.

Provider Attitude Toward the Seriousness of Diabetes

The American College of Endocrinologists has identified that providers do not make necessary clinical treatment changes in a timely manner when they recognize progressions in the patient's diabetes, this includes medication changes (American Association of Clinical Endocrinology [AACE], 2020). This phenomenon has been termed as the lack of clinical inertia by the AACE (2020). The lack of clinical inertia can be caused by a lack of understanding about diabetes and appreciation for the treatment and management of a serious chronic disease. The lack of clinical inertia could also be caused by the inability of providers to teach and communicate the complex concepts of diabetes to their patients in a way they understand. Kanumilli et al. (2021) found that PCPs lacked the skill to translate the latest evidence about protective cardiovascular benefits and general diabetes education into a language level their patients understand. This global survey that included 1677 respondents from 18 countries found that PCPs needed additional support to adequately manage diabetes. The level of engagement in chronic disease management is influenced by the providers' perception of the seriousness of the disease (Chironda & Bhengu, 2018). Primary care teams engage patients in diabetes education and management to help them develop a better understanding of their illness and the treatment plan.

Provider Attitude Toward the Value of Tight Control

The previous ADA standards called for strict control of blood glucose (ADA, 2021). The current standards focus more on decreasing the risks of diabetes-related emergencies and complications. Patients with long-term complications like foot ulcers and kidney failure may be perceived as unable to control their blood glucose in a tight range. Oliveira et al. (2021) found that geriatric people with type 2 diabetes had less stable blood sugars and higher hemoglobin A1Cs. Their study included people 60-69 years old and determined that their consistent use of medication was related to blood sugar stability. PCPs can influence appropriate blood sugar control through the use of education on lifestyle, and a simplified medication regimen to help seniors meet their goals (Sibounheuang et al., 2019). In the new guidelines, the blood sugar goals are individualized and less strict than previous guidelines (ADA, 2021). Older guidelines advised providers to maintain blood glucose levels within the range of 80-180, and hemoglobin A1C goals less than 7%. New guidelines allow for higher blood glucose levels, and do not focus on hemoglobin A1C levels but on the absence of hypoglycemia (less than 60) and severe hyperglycemia (greater than 500). The new guidelines focus on balancing the burden of diabetes and the quality of life for geriatric patients. Because the guidelines are new, there is literature to support looser guidelines, but there is little information on the primary care team's perceptions about the new blood sugar guidelines for geriatrics.

Provider Attitude Toward the Psychosocial Impact of Diabetes

Diabetes can become an overwhelming burden to patients and can affect a person's quality of life. Patients with controlled diabetes may feel the burden of daily diabetes self-management. Still, they may be healthier than their peers and retain community independence, functionality, and quality of life longer than their counterparts. Four weeks of education and an improvement in blood glucose readings can cause improved quality of life for seniors (Andrich & Foronda, 2020). Patients with uncontrolled diabetes can suffer from devastating complications that limit their independence, functionality, and quality of life (ADA, 2021). Memory issues related to age and microvascular complications decreased seniors' ability to maintain diabetes survival skills (Cuevas & Stuifbergen, 2017). In a study of senior immigrants to the United States and their perceptions of self-care, researchers found that four major themes related to participants' experiences with diabetes self-care management, including that diabetes were genetic and inevitable, diabetes self-care is difficult, they had little understanding of their diabetes, and they were dependent on care providers, doctors, and nurses to facilitate self-care management (Le et al., 2018). They were dependent on their care team. These themes all influenced their quality of life. Adults perceive barriers to diabetes self-management, including problem recognizing physical changes, understanding diabetes, and high blood glucose on overall health and self-management implementation dilemmas that negatively impact the quality of life (Wu et al., 2019). Kim & Kim looked at health-related quality of life and diabetes self-management in elderly Korean patients in acute care (2017). They found that these patients had poor

quality of life related to depression and inability to manage their diabetes and overall health. Patients who experience the burden of diabetes and lack support and knowledge can have a poorer quality of life than peers with diabetes self-management support and education. The primary care team is a provider of diabetes self-management education and a patient supporter. The provider perspectives can influence a patient and affect their ability to engage in self-management.

Provider Attitudes on Patient Autonomy

Care providers can educate and support seniors in managing their diabetes (ADCES, 2020). Providers are responsible for educating and supporting patients on their disease status and treatments (ADCES, 2020). The provider can also teach seniors techniques that may help to compensate for age-related deficits. Care providers need to understand the senior's environment to help them overcome challenges and barriers while maximizing strengths and social supports. Aweko et al. (2018) completed a study examining provider views about diabetes self-management education. The patients' backgrounds varied from the providers, and this led to the conclusion that patients often found it difficult to operationalize the instructions given to them by the provider, where the providers felt that the patients did not completely follow the directions. The providerpatient relationship affected education. A positive relationship that supports and understands the patients' needs and views can positively impact a patient's selfmanagement skills and quality of life.

Seniors look to maintain independence and autonomy. They are a special care group for providers. Pediatrics is also a special care group that is just learning about autonomy in chronic disease self-management. There are articles comparing the provider perspective and patient perspective for diabetes self-management for type 1 pediatrics. This research includes family support and education. Parent and provider impact the child's ability to take accountability for and self-manage a complex disease (Ahmed et al., 2019; Goethals et al., 2020; Starkman et al., 2019). There is research on provider perspectives for the care of children with type 1 diabetes, focusing on the transition of care from pediatrics to adult providers.

Perceived Susceptibility

Perceived susceptibility is an individual's interpretation of risk (Becker, 1974). In this study, perceived susceptibility refers to the individual's perception of their individual vulnerability to diabetes complications. Complications can be severe and include heart failure, myocardial infarction, stroke, kidney disease, blindness, and amputations (Evans et al., 2021). Emotions, experiences, cultural beliefs may influence their perceptions and values (Becker, 1974). Both the provider and the patient need to understand the complications of diabetes and its impact on quality of life. The provider needs to effectively communicate the risk of complications and the patient's susceptibility to the complications (Anjali et al., 2021). By helping patients understand their susceptibility to the complications of diabetes, providers can support them in behavioral modifications and self-management skills.

Perceived Severity

Perceived severity is the individual's acceptance of the seriousness of diabetes complications. A lack of knowledge can minimize the severity of diabetes. Diabetes is traditionally known as a sugar problem. It is often explained as just having too much sugar, which gives the impression that patients should stop using white table sugar to manage the disease (Swaleh & Yu, 2020). However, sugar or glucose is the major source of food for our body's cells. Food has glucose, and the body is able to store and make glucose (ADA, 2021). Diabetes is a body systems disease that is much more complicated than the concept of white table sugar. The severity of the disease can be misinterpreted without education (Swaleh & Yu, 2020). Patients who do not receive education on diabetes self-management may underestimate the severity of the disease (Swaleh & Yu, 2020). Providers are the primary source of education and support. They can develop relationships with their patients and provide diabetes self-management education on a level they understand to support them.

Perceived Benefits

The perceived benefits of diabetes self-management education can be underestimated (ADA, 2021). Most illnesses require doctors' visits and pills. Diabetes requires frequent doctors' visits, medications, monitoring, and lifestyle changes, including eating habits, regular exercise, and sleep habits (ADA, 2021). The perceived benefits of diabetes self-management can be underestimated if the patient does not have the foundational education about ways to control blood glucose (Putri et al., 2020). The benefits of blood glucose control are seen in the ability to put off complications. Providers need to understand the benefits of diabetes self-management for their patients and educate the patient about the benefits in a way that they can understand and operationalize the education (Putri et al., 2020).

Perceived Barriers for Patients

The perceived barriers to diabetes self-management can be numerous and influenced by internal and external factors, including physical and mental capacity, financial, beliefs, and values (Saunders, 2019). Seniors face additional barriers related to age-related deficits (Saunders, 2019). Care providers develop a trusting relationship with patients and provide education and support for diabetes self-management. They can also help address financial stressors and environment-related factors by assisting seniors to access community resources to support diabetes self-management (ADA, 2021). Diabetes self-management education programs that are individualized to the patient's needs help patients overcome barriers (Pinchera et al., 2018). The provider needs to understand the patient and their barriers to care.

Barriers for Providers

Also, clinical inertia is a well-documented provider barrier to diabetes management (AACE, 2020). Providers are slow to increase medication and aggressively treat diabetes, giving patients the perception that they are doing better than they really are (Alshoalah et al., 2018). The American Association of Clinical Endocrinology has prioritized clinical inertia, developed an easy-to-follow treatment algorithm, and provided education to providers on the appropriate treatment of diabetes to support PCPs in the appropriate treatment of seniors with diabetes. (AACE, 2020). The clinical treatment of diabetes is complex and consists of medication management and lifestyle modifications. There may be other language, culture, and values barriers that prohibit the care provider and patient from developing good communication.

Cues to Action

The cue to action for patients is a trigger to take action. Providers need to understand the patient motivators to engage them in education and diabetes management. This understanding requires the cultivation of a relationship and asking clear questions about the patient's goals (Nichols et al., 2018). Seniors may have very different motivators and goals than younger people. Their wish for longevity may not be as strong as their desire to have a high quality of life for the rest of their years. The motivator for patients is individualized (Burner et al., 2014). The provider has to assess the patient and determine motivators that will engage the patient in diabetes self-management.

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy is the belief that an individual can accomplish the task in question. Self-efficacy is affected by an individual's self-image and self-confidence. Providers need to explore not only patient motivators but also include the patient in decision making and care planning. By including the patient, the provider can increase the patient's selfefficacy (Vluggen et al., 2018). Patients who received diabetes education and maintained a relationship with their provider have a higher self-efficacy (Lee et al., 2019). Selfefficacy is a major component of the health belief model. Seniors may not even begin diabetes self-management if they do not believe that they can accomplish the tasks.

Summary and Conclusions

There are many research articles on diabetes. There are new defined standards of care for geriatric diabetes management; however, there is a gap in research for PCPs and their perceptions and attitudes about diabetes management and education for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. As the guidelines change for geriatrics diabetes management, the primary care team needs to improve their care of geriatric patients. Very few articles consider the primary care team perspective of diabetes for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The care team's management of diabetes for seniors only accounts for small points in time in the patient's life. Diabetes self-management skills are taught and supported by the care team. However, the patient goes back into the community and must decide how to operationalize those new skills. Urban seniors from low socioeconomic neighborhoods have distinct needs, barriers, and strengths. Diabetes self-management skills require multiple daily decisions that the patient makes by themselves. Care providers need to understand the internal and external influences and work with patients to provide education and tools to support diabetes self-management.

The burden of diabetes management may be overlooked by patients and providers but can contribute to continued independence and self-sufficiency in the community during the later years of life. The care providers can help patients engage and learn the diabetes self-management skills by reinforcing the susceptibility of diabetes and longterm complications, the perceived benefit of diabetes self-management in controlling diabetes and preventing complications.

Chapter 3 reviews the methodology for this quantitative study. The exploratory research design and rationale are discussed. The sample population is defined as well as participant recruitment. The survey tools and design are discussed in depth. The threats to validity and ethical procedures are discussed. All aspects of the project as they fall within the scope of the dissertation are described.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of the study was to assess the attitudes and perceptions of primary care teams about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. In this chapter, I describe the details of the research design and provide the rationale behind the design as it related to the scope of the study. The methodology is described, including the target population, sample, and sampling procedures. The procedures for sampling are explained and include a justification for the sample size. Also included in the chapter are the recruitment, participation, and data collection procedures. The data collection surveys are presented, and their alignment with the study is explored. The threats to validity, study constraints, and ethical considerations are also outlined at the end of the chapter.

Research Design and Rationale

An exploratory design was applied to assess the perceptions of the primary care team members on diabetes and urban seniors from low socioeconomic neighborhoods. Health educators can benefit from understanding the primary care teams' perceptions of diabetes so that they can build education programs that help primary care teams close gaps in knowledge and provide high quality diabetes care. A survey was used to explore primary care team members' perceptions about diabetes. To entirely understand the perceptions of care teams, I would have needed time for extensive interviews and shadowing in different primary care offices. Due to the scope of this study, I instead used a survey method to collect data from primary care team members about their perceptions of diabetes self-management skills and education for their senior diabetes patients from low socioeconomic status urban communities. An online survey was an easy tool to administer and used to collect data in a timely manner (Warner, 2013). By being online, primary care team members easily completed the survey in 5 to 10 minutes and submitted their responses. The online tool also helped track and record responses (see Warner, 2013). The online tool allowed the response to be anonymous. The disadvantage of a survey was that questions could not be clarified, and responses could not extend beyond the response choices (see Warner, 2013). Participants were not able to explain their response or provide additional information because the survey used a Likert scale (see Warner, 2013). However, the tool allowed for the collection of data from a large convenience sample within a short period of time.

Correlation analysis was used to identify if there was a relationship between perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. MANOVA was used to determine if there were differences in the ratings of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on the role in the primary care team among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. Correlation analysis was also used to identify if there were differences in the ratings of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on years of experience among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The dependent variables were the diabetes attitudes: the perceived need for special training, the perceived seriousness of diabetes, the perceived value of tight control, the perceived psychosocial impact, and the perceived patient autonomy. The independent variables were the role on the care team and the years of experience.

This study was an exploratory quantitative project with a survey design for the convenience sample of primary care team members. Data were collected through the DAS-3. The survey was distributed electronically, and responses were collected electronically.

Methodology

Population

The population of interest was the primary care team members for urban low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes Type 2 in Atlantic County, New Jersey. The care team consisted of physicians, advance practice nurses, physician assistants, nurses, registered dieticians, and social workers. Physicians, advanced practice nurses, and physician assistants were placed into one category labeled PCP The team members varied in years of experience and professional role on the team. The survey was distributed electronically through email to primary care team members who practiced in Atlantic County, New Jersey. There were approximately 25 primary care offices and over 1,065 providers in Atlantic County (United States Census Bureau, 2019). The area had primary care interests' groups with email distribution lists. I used the email distribution lists with the permission of the group administrators, see Appendix B. The first section of the survey required the participant to indicate their role on the care team and years of experience.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

I used a convenience sample of primary care team members from area offices. Offices were within the county but not from the same healthcare organization. A simple random sample would have strengthened the validity of this study; however, due to the time constraints of a dissertation, a convenience sample met the scope of this dissertation (see Warner, 2013). The ideal size of the sample was 132 primary care team members. The convenience sample generated enough data to effectively analyze the differences in perception using multiple correlation and MANOVA. The population of primary care team members was estimated to be over 1,065. A sample of 132 was adequate for statistical analysis.

Effect size is a measure that determines the meaningfulness of the relationship between the variables (Faul et al., 2007). A large effect size can mean that the findings have more significance than a small effect size. The alpha value is the level at which the null hypothesis will be rejected. The statistical power of the significance was determined based on the number of participants recruited. Using G*Power (see Faul et al., 2007), the statistical power of the study was at 95%. I assumed that the sample represented the diverse backgrounds and perspectives of the primary care team and that the sample size was large enough to represent the population. There was the possibility of error if primary care team members who used the updated guidelines in their practice responded to the survey. There was also the possibility of error because the four primary care roles did not respond uniformly to the survey. I sent the survey to lists of primary care team members from diverse roles and recruited 150 respondents to attempt to counter this error.

Participants were recruited by email invitation. The email list was generated from the local interest groups and primary care teams. To be included in the study, participants must have been one of the primary care team members and cared for urban patients over 55 with diabetes Type 2 with low socioeconomic status. Providers were aware of socioeconomic status from their assessments of the patients' resources. I recruited a sample of 150 participants to have an adequate number of valid responses.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Participants were voluntarily recruited from primary care offices. Recruitment was through mass email of all primary care team member distribution lists. Participation in the study was voluntary, and consent was obtained. The study was held over a 4-week time frame. The survey took approximately five to ten minutes to complete. The survey did not collect individual participant names. The demographic data collected included primary care team position, sex, age, and number of years of experience in their role. A form of consent was attached to the surveys in the introductory email. The survey was a link on the email. This was an anonymous electronic survey; consent was implied when the questionnaire was accessed and completed. Participants were assured confidentiality and anonymity. The DAS-3 is an established survey tool. The survey has a Likert scale,

so answers were ordinal. The survey was administered using the Survey Monkey tool (see momentive.ai, 2021).

The consent document informed participants that the study outcomes would be used to improve diabetes education in the primary care offices and included my contact information for specific questions. This was a one-time survey and did not require any follow-up by the participants.

Participants were included if they were a primary care team member who cared for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. Primary care team members were defined as clinical primary and preventive care providers in the community clinic, including physicians, advance practice nurses, physician assistants, nurses, registered dietitians, and social workers. Care providers who were not primary care or did not care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors were not included. I collected and maintained all data. Responses were excluded if the threshold for the scale was not met or if the response was outlier.

There were limitations to this research project. Design issues included not receiving the desired number of responses within the first week. Additional email reminders were sent out at week 2 and 3 to increase the response rate. Also, the responses were collected in a rating format and allowed for no further detail or elaboration from the participant. There was the possibility that participants chose random responses. Additionally, there may have been time and resource constraints related to the COVID-19 public health pandemic and the ability of the participants to complete the surveys in a timely manner. Care provider burnout was an issue during the public health emergency (Kang & Hun Park, 2021), so I approached the care team in a supportive way to engage them in the project. There was a local surge or COVID-19 during the four-week survey period. I gave clear instructions and explanations of the study and an accurate description of the length of the survey. Completion of the survey took on average seven minutes.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

The DAS-3 was developed by the University of Michigan Diabetes and Research Training Center in 1998 (Anderson et al., 1998). The project described was supported by Grant Number P30DK020572 (MDRC) from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. This was the third version of the survey. See Appendix C for permission to use the tool. The DAS-3 was a valid and reliable general measure of diabetes-related attitudes and was appropriate for comparisons in care team members (see Anderson et al., 1998). The reliability was broken down by the subscales. The need for special training had a reliability of 0.67, the seriousness of diabetes had a reliability of 0.80, the value of tight control had a value of 0.72, the psychosocial impact had a value of 0.65, and the patient autonomy had a value of 0.76 (Anderson et al., 1998). The validity was established by having the scale items developed by 22 diabetes experts, including physicians, nurses, dieticians, social workers, and patients (Anderson et al., 1998). The panel used a modified Delphi technique to develop and prioritize the items (Anderson et al., 1998). The tool measured attitudes of health care providers on diabetes. The instrument was designed for either patients or health care professionals. It had 33 diabetes-related statements that the respondent reviewed and indicated the level of their agreement or disagreement. The scale was a 5-point Likert scale that included the

responses *strongly agree, agree, neutral, disagree*, and *strongly disagree*. Some questions required reverse scoring, see Table 1. The developers of the DAS-3 divided the 33 questions into groups to create the categories of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy. For the purposes of this study, I used the tool on primary care teams. The tool had been used in different countries and languages; however, it had not been used to measure care team perceptions of diabetes for urban low socioeconomic status geriatric patients. The tool included a collection of demographic data at the beginning that included age, sex, profession, and years of experience.

Operationalization

The tool identified five general areas related to diabetes care and management. The five areas were the perceived need for special training, the perceived seriousness of diabetes, the perceived value of tight control, the perceived psychosocial impact of diabetes, and the perceived patient autonomy. The 33 statements were divided into these five categories, see Table 1 (see Anderson et al. 1998). Some statements required reverse coding as the degree of agreement was valued at the reverse response, see Table 1.

The need for special training was the sum of Statements 1, 6, 10, 17, and 20. The seriousness of diabetes was the sum of Statements 2, 7, 11, 15, 21, 25, and 31. Reverse scores was used for Statements 2, 7, 11, and 15. The value of tight control was the sum of Statements 3, 8, 12, 16, 23, 26, and 28. Reverse scores was used for Statements 3, 16, 23, and 26. The psychosocial impact of diabetes was the sum of Statements 4, 13, 18, 22, 29,

and 33. The reverse score was used for Statement 13. Patient autonomy was the sum of Statements 5, 9, 14, 19, 24, 27, 30, and 32. Table 1 shows the statement scoring.

Table 1

Table for Statement Scoring

Scale name	Scale equation	Special instructions
Need for special training	Sum of statements: 1, 6,	
	10, 17, 20	
Seriousness of diabetes	Sum of statements: 2, 7,	Reverse scores for
	11, 15, 21, 25, 31	statements 2, 7, 11, and 15
Value of tight control	Sum of statements: 3, 8,	Reverse scores for
	12, 16, 23, 26, 28	statements 3, 16, 23, and
		26
Psychosocial impact of	Sum of statements: 4, 13,	Reverse score for statement
diabetes	18, 22, 29, 33	13
Patient autonomy	Sum of statements: 5, 9,	
	14, 19, 24, 27, 30, 32	

Each RQ was addressed using the statement scales. If 50% of the items of a scale were missing, the scale was considered as missing for that respondent.

Data Analysis Plan

RQ1: Are there statistically significant relationships among perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes?

 H_01 : There are no statistically significant relationships among the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 $H_{\rm a}1$: There are statistically significance relationships among the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

The variables were perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy. The alpha was 0.05, the power was 0.95, the effect size was 0.20, the calculated minimum sample size was 105, and the software G*Power was 3.1.9.7

The question was answered by correlation analysis in SPSS version 27 (IBM, 2020). The sum of each statement was entered into SPSS Version 27. The relationship

between perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact and perceived patient autonomy for primary care team members of low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes was examined.

RQ2: Are there statistically significant differences in the ratings of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (provider, nurse, dietitian, social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes?

 H_02 : There are no statistically significant differences in the rating of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (provider, nurse, dietitian, social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 H_a2 : There are statistically significant differences in the rating of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (provider, nurse, dietitian, social worker) among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

The dependent variables included perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy. The independent variable was the team role among primary care teams for low-socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The alpha was

0.05, the power was 0.95, the effect size was 0.20, the calculated minimum sample size 132, and the software: G*Power 3.1.9.7.

The question was answered by MANOVA in SPSS version 27 (IBM, 2020). MANOVA was used to predict the value of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact and perceived patient autonomy based on the team roles among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The team roles were categorical data. Team roles were separated into PCP, nurse, dietitian, and social worker.

RQ3: What is the relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

The dependent variable was perceived value of tight control. The independent variable was years of experience among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The alpha was 0.05, the power was 0.95, the effect size 0.20, the calculated minimum sample size was 111, and the software was G*Power 3.1.9.7.

The question was answered by correlation analysis in SPSS version 27

(IBM,2020). Correlation analysis was used to predict the perceived value of tight control based on the years of experience. The new ADA guidelines have changed for geriatric patients. The degree that experienced primary care team members learn and implement the new standards compared to less experienced team members who were taught the new standards in training is of interest. As standards of care and treatment guidelines evolve and improve, the ability of practicing primary care teams to learn and implement these standards is key. The years of experience was collected as a raw number.

Assumptions

The correlation analysis had a few basic assumptions. One is normality. Normality means that the data sets have a normal distribution (Warner, 2013). Another assumption for correlation analysis is homoscedasticity, which is equal variance, and this can be visualized using a scatterplot (Warner, 2013). Data points will be equidistant from the line on both sides of the line. There is also the assumption of linearity, which can also be visualized in a scatter plot. Data points will follow a liner line, and not a curve (Warner, 2013). Another is paired observations, for every independent variable observation, there must be a corresponding dependent variable observation (Warner, 2013). The final assumption was that there are no outliers (Warner, 2013). Outlier responses were discarded.

The MANOVA analysis determines if there are differences in independent groups when there is one dependent variable and has similar assumptions to correlation analysis (Warner, 2013). The assumptions were that the measures were in interval or ratio levels, and that the independent variable had more than one category (Warner, 2013). There was independence of observations (Warner, 2013). Also, there was an adequate sample size and no outliers (Warner, 2013). For the current study sample, responses containing outliers were discarded.

The role and years of experience of the team members may impact the health beliefs about diabetes care and management. The perceived need for special training, perceived value of tight control, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived psychosocial impact of diabetes, and perceived patient autonomy each contribute to the way the primary care team members manage diabetes in urban low socioeconomic status seniors, and the way that they provide self-management education for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. Figure 3 shows the primary care team characteristics and perceptions and their relation to diabetes management.

Figure 3

Primary Care Team Characteristics and Perceptions



Threats to Validity

External validity is the degree in which a study can be generalized to the outside population (Warner, 2013). There were threats to external validity in this study. This study had an exploratory design with a convenience sample. This study was completed in the field and outside variables such as care provider burn out and staffing limitations due to COVID-19 that have caused staffing decreases will not be able to be controlled. To
address this threat, I calculated and obtained an adequate sample size for all three RQs based on the total number of predictors.

The exploratory design had weaker internal validity by nature of the design. Internal validity is the degree in which results from a study can be used as evidence for a causal connection between variables (Warner, 2013). Participants may have rated their responses based on other factors such as beliefs, values, and achievements. Improvement of diabetes self-management skills may not improve quality of life. In fact, improved diabetes self-management may be a burden to some and detract from quality of life.

Ethical Procedures

To maintain ethical standards, I obtained Institutional Review Board (IRB) provisional approval from Walden University, then additional IRB approval from the collaborating project site. Prior to formal IRB approval, verbal agreement was established by the nursing leadership from the Health System IRB and the chairperson of the Health System IRB. A letter of support was obtained from the project site and submitted to Walden IRB. Walden IRB gave first provisional approval, with full approval when the collaborating site gave full approval. The Walden IRB approval number was 12-23-21-066299.

There were minimal ethical concerns to the recruitment of subjects. All subjects were given information about the purpose of the study and completed informed consent. Their participation was voluntary. Many participants worked in the same healthcare facility where I worked and may have felt obligated to answer the survey in a favorable way, and this impacted the reliability of the study. I required their time and responses for about five to ten minutes during a one-time survey. All data was collected electronically. I accessed the population through email and maintained a remote relationship to help decrease the pressure to answer the survey favorably. Data was collected through Survey Monkey. All data collected was confidential. Data was secured in a locked private laptop and will be maintained for seven years. The data was handled by this writer. The results of the project were shared with the primary care office and care team. This disclosure was included in the informed consent. Data collection did not include names of identifiers to protect the participants.

I completed the study on site at my work environment. However, I worked remotely off-site and behind the scenes as a staff member for the last five years. I had no physical presence in the work environment, and I did not communicate with the patients or primary care team members. I had no authoritative influence over the care team, and I had no relationship with the participants of the study.

Summary

This chapter covered all the details to the research design and provided rationale for the study. The design was an exploratory study that used multiple correlation and MANOVA to examine the perceptions of primary care team members about diabetes and urban low socioeconomic status seniors. This chapter reviewed the population which was care providers for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. This chapter also described the DAS-3 data collection tool. The methods of participant recruitment through convenience sampling and informed consent were discussed. The data collection technique and data analysis plan were explained.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

Advances in the standards of care for geriatric diabetes management will continue to develop, and it is important for primary care teams to stay current with the newest guidelines and offer high quality care to their patients (O'Donovan et al., 2021). The purpose of this quantitative exploratory study was to assess the attitudes and perceptions among a group of primary care team members about the need for special training for providers who educate and care for patients, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The RQs and hypotheses that guided this study were as follows:

RQ1: Are there statistically significant relationships among perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes?

 H_01 : There are no statistically significant relationships among the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial social impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 H_{a1} : There are statistically significance relationships among the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control,

perceived psychosocial social impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

RQ2: Are there statistically significant differences in the ratings of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (PCP, nurse, dietitian, or social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes?

 H_02 : There are no statistically significant differences in the rating of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (PCP, nurse, dietitian, or social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 H_a2 : There are statistically significant differences in the rating of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (PCP, nurse, dietitian, or social worker) among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

RQ3: What is the relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes.

This chapter provides a description of the data collection procedures that were implemented, such as the time frames for data collection as well as participant recruitment and the inclusion and exclusion criteria. In addition, a detailed description of the sample is provided. The descriptive statistics and the statistical assumptions for the data analyses procedures are addressed. Further, the results from the statistical procedures are provided, including the correlation analysis and MANOVA procedures.

Data Collection

Data collection occurred over a 4-week period, January 10, 2022 to February 3, 2022. This was the week following approval from the collaborating IRB and Walden IRB. An invitation email was sent out to professional groups that included primary care team members. The invitation included a brief description of the study, the study consent, and a link to the survey. The email was sent to 1,659 primary care team members in the area. Reminder emails were sent in Week 2 and 3 of the data collection period to increase the response rate. From the 1,659 invitations, 150 primary care team members participated in the study and responded to the survey. The response rate was 11%. There were no discrepancies in data collection from the original plan.

Baseline and Descriptive Demographics of the Sample

A total of 32 PCP participated, including 13 physicians, 18 advanced practice nurses, and one physician assistant. In addition, 91 nurses, 15 dietitians, and 12 social workers participated. The total number of respondents equaled 150. The average years of experience was 17.19, and the average age of the respondents was 45.13. The majority of the participants were female, 93% (n = 140) and 7% male (n = 10). I expected more male respondents; this would have been more representative of the population. Males dominate primary care roles, but females dominate nursing, dietitian, and social work roles (United States Department of Labor Statistics, 2021). Table 2 displays a breakdown of participant demographics including ages, years of experience, and the totals of male and female participants, according to primary care team roles.

Table 2

Profession	Age	Years of	Men	Women
		experience		
РСР	48.54	12.72	5	27
Nurse	46.68	19.85	3	88
Dietitian	42.13	15.73	0	15
Social worker	38.16	13.41	2	10
Total	45.13	17.19	10	140

Demographics of Participants

The values for the five key study variables (perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy) were calculated by using the scoring guide developed by the creators of the DAS-3 tool (see Anderson et al., 1998). Table 1 illustrated the scoring guide. Of the 33 questions, the level of agreement or

disagreement was distinguished by *strongly agree* = 5, *agree* = 4, *Neutral* = 3, *disagree* = 2, and *strongly disagree* = 1. Reverse coding was required for questions Q2, Q3, Q7,

Q11, Q13, Q15, Q16, Q23, and Q26 because the level of agreement was determined to be valued at the reverse score by the DAS-3 creators. Table 3 illustrates the number of items used to calculate each variable and the possible response ranges. The possible minimum score was the number of questions in the variable if the rating was 1, and the maximum was the number of questions in the variable times a rating of 5.

Table 3

Variable	Number of statements in the variable	Minimum	Maximum
Perceived need for special training	5	5	25
Perceived seriousness of diabetes	7	7	35
Perceived value of tight control	7	7	35
Perceived psychosocial impact	6	6	30
Perceived patient autonomy	8	8	40

Possible Response Scoring Ranges

Table 4 illustrates the frequency distribution of the responses, including the mean, standard deviation, minimum response, and maximum response. The actual minimal responses are greater than the possible minimum responses because the minimum responses would have required all the answers for the variable to be of a value of 1. The perceived value of tight control and the perceived patient autonomy had more variation in the responses.

Table 4

	Perceived			Perceived		
		need for	Perceived	Perceived	psychosocial	Perceived
		special	seriousness of	value of tight	impact of	patient
	Statistic	training	diabetes	control	diabetes	autonomy
N	Vali	149	149	148	149	148
	Mis	1	1	2	1	2
	Mean	23.28	30.36	25.99	26.30	34.6
						4
	Std. Deviati	1.83	2.88	3.07	2.59	4.39
	Minimum	19	20	18	19	24
	Maximum	25	35	33	30	40

Summary of Responses

Data Analysis

A correlation analysis was completed to explore the relationships between the variables of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact and perceived patient autonomy. A MANOVA was conducted to assess if there was a relationship between the dependent variables (perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy) and team role. A correlation analysis was conducted to determine if there is a relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The following paragraphs describe the data analysis process in detail.

In Step 1, I uploaded the Excel data file from Survey Monkey to SPSS version 27. In Step 2, I ensured all data transferred correctly and demographic variables were labeled and coded appropriately. Males were coded as 0 and females as 1. To establish values for the study variables, I applied the scoring protocol for the DAS 3 (see Anderson et al., 1998). According to the scoring protocol, Questions 2, 7, 11, 13, 15, 16, 23, and 26 were reverse coded. The individual questions were transferred into variable groups of need for special training, seriousness of diabetes, value of tight control, psychosocial impact, and patient autonomy. In Step 3, I analyzed the variables (perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy) through correlation analysis to answer RQ1. In Step 4, I placed the roles into four categories of nurse, PCP (physician, advanced practice nurses, and physician assistant), dietitian, and social worker, and conducted a MANOVA using the variables of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy to answer RQ2. In Step 5, I used correlation to analyze the variable of years of experience and value of tight control. I visually inspected the data and found no missing data.

Results

RQ1 was as follows: Are there statistically significant relationships among perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes? To answer this question, bivariate correlation analysis was conducted to evaluate the relationships among perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. Pearson Correlation was used to determine the strength and direction of a linear relationship between the variables (see Warner, 2013). Table 5 illustrates the results of the bivariate correlation analysis. There was a positive correlation with the perceived need of special training with the perceived seriousness of diabetes (r =.34, p = .00), the perceived psychosocial impact of diabetes (r = .54, p = .00), and perceived patient autonomy (r = .49, p = .00). The perceived seriousness of diabetes was also significantly positively correlated with the perceived value of tight control (r = .43, p = .00), the perceived psychosocial impact (r = .44, p = .00), and perceived patient autonomy (r = .25, p = .00). The perceived value of tight control had a negative correlation with the perceived patient autonomy (r = -.19, p = .02). Because the *p*-values were less than 0.05, I rejected the null hypothesis and accepted the alternative hypothesis: There are statistically significance relationships among the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. Table 5 shows the results for the correlation analysis of variables.

Table 5

Variable	Perceived need for special training	Perceived seriousness of diabetes	Perceived value of tight control	Perceived psychosocial impact	Perceived patient autonomy
Perceived need for special training		.34**	.03	.54**	.49**
Perceived seriousness of diabetes	.34**		.43**	.44**	.25**
Perceived value of tight control	.03	.43**		.07	19*
Perceived psychosocial impact	.54**	.44**	.07		.52**
Perceived patient autonomy	.49**	.25**	19*	.52**	

Results for the Correlation Analysis of Variables

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level

RQ2 was as follows: Are there statistically significant differences in the ratings of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (PCP, nurse, dietitian, or social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes? To test the null hypothesis, a oneway MANOVA was conducted using SPSS software version 27 and post-hoc test using the Tukey HSD test to evaluate pairwise differences between the means. The results from the MANOVA analysis revealed no significant difference in the rating of perceived need for special training (p = .54), perceived seriousness of diabetes (p = .98), perceived value of tight control (p = .12), and perceived psychosocial impact (p = .22) based on team roles of PCP, nurses, social worker for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes There was a difference in rating for perceived patient autonomy (p = .02) based on team roles of PCP, nurses, dietitians, and social workers. The results of the MANOVA are illustrated in Table 6. The null hypothesis is accepted, and we can conclude that there is no significant difference in the rating of perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (PCP, nurse, dietitian, social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. Table 6 shows the MANOVA results.

Table 6

Variable	Sum of	df	Mean square	F	Sig
	squares				
Perceived need for special	7.36	3	2.45	7.29	.54
training					
Perceived seriousness of	1.66	3	.55	.07	.98
diabetes					
Perceived value of tight	55.79	3	18.60	2.01	.12
control					
Perceived psychosocial	29.94	3	9.98	1.51	.22
impact					
Perceived patient autonomy	185.70	3	61.90	3.37	.02*

MANOVA Results

*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level

RQ3 was as follows: What is the relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes? A bivariate correlation was conducted to evaluate the relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The results of the analysis revealed a statistically significant positive association between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The results of the analysis revealed a statistically significant positive association between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. The value of tight control was significant to the years of experience (r = .43, p = .00). Table 7 illustrates the results of the correlation between the years of experience and the value of tight control.

Table 7

(201	rel	ati	lOK	lS

Statistic	Variable	Value of tight	Year of experience
		control	
Pearson	Value of tight control	1.00	.23
Correlation			
	Years of experience	.23	1.00
Sig (1-tailed)	Value of tight control		.00*
	Years of experience	.00*	
N	Value of tight control	148	148
	Years of experience	148	148

*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level

Summary

Chapter 4 focused on addressing three RQs by examining the associations between perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact and perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (PCP, nurse, dietitian, or social worker) among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. Correlation was used to determine that there is a statistically significant relationship between the ratings of the variables by the primary care team members. MANOVA was used to determine the differences in ratings for the variables based on team role. The analysis found that there is no statistically significant relationship between team role and ratings for the variables. The third RQ explored the relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members. Correlation was used to determine that there is a relationship between value of tight control and years of experience. The analysis shows that there is an increase in the perceived value of tight control as the years of experience increase.

In Chapter 5, these results are interpreted using the theoretical framework of the health belief model. Also, the findings are compared to current research literature and the limitations of the study are discussed. Finally, the implications for positive social change are considered and recommendations for further research and practice are provided.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative exploratory study was to explore the attitudes and perceptions among a group of primary care team members about the need for special training about diabetes for providers who educate and care for patients, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The study findings reflected statistically significance relationships among the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes when these variables were analyzed through correlation. The variables were then analyzed by team role, and the study findings were that there was no statistical significance to the team role, except for the variable of perceived patient autonomy. The perceived value of tight control was analyzed in association with the years of experience. The results showed a positive correlation between years of experience and perceived value of tight control. In recent years, the value of tight control has been minimized in the standards of care (ADA, 2021). Tight control of blood sugars is hard work that requires diligence and a set routine (Andrich & Foronda, 2020). Moreover, geriatric patients who have tight control can suffer from diabetes burnout and run the risk of low blood sugar complications (Carneiro Vicente et al., 2020). The diligence required to sustain tight blood sugar control can decrease their quality of life and can even become a burden with their age-related deficits

(Andrich & Foronda, 2020). The ADA has recognized that tight blood glucose control reduces long-term complications, but geriatric patients should focus on quality of life as they may not live long enough for the long-term complications to manifest (ADA, 2021).

This quantitative study was undertaken to better understand the perceptions of primary care teams about diabetes and urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The ADA (2022) diabetes standards of care for older adults continues to evolve on a regular basis as more is known about diabetes care and treatment. New diabetes medication and technologies give primary care teams new tools to treat patients with diabetes. These new treatments also need to be applied to the appropriate patient populations (O'Donovan et al., 2021). Older adults may have comorbidities that decrease their life expectancy. Even if the geriatric patient has been involved in their diabetes treatment and has maintained tight blood sugar control, that tight control may no longer be advisable due to the risk of hypoglycemia and falls or other injuries (Tu & Liao, 2021). Primary care teams are the main providers of diabetes care for the older adults. Thus, health educators can provide education to primary care teams to help them deliver high quality care based on the latest standards of care. It is important that they are knowledgeable about the new standards of care and that they implement them to help geriatric diabetes patients decrease the burden of diabetes management and enjoy a high quality of life in their later years (Harris et al., 2021). Providers need to understand the effects of aging and the risk of accidents related to hypoglycemia in geriatric patients.

In this chapter, I interpret the results presented in Chapter 4 using the theoretical and conceptual framework of the health belief model. Also, the results are compared to existing literature and the limitations are discussed. Finally, the positive social change of these findings is considered, and recommendations for further research and practice are provided.

Interpretation of the Findings

The ADA Standards of Diabetes Care for Older Adults has revised their recommendations in 2022 (ADA, 2022). Providers have been directed to consider the feasibility of recommending older adults with physical or cognitive limitations to use diabetes technologies for blood glucose control (ADA, 2022). The new standards instead focus less on blood glucose control for older adults. The burden of care outweighs the benefits of tight control. The ADA (2022) still promotes healthy lifestyle interventions such as healthy eating and structured exercise to help older adults maintain their functionality. However, the new standards focus on the prevention of overtreatment with medications as the costs of medications can be a burden to older adults, and the number of medications can decrease medication regimen adherence (ADA, 2022). The ADA recommends an appropriate medication regimen that sufficiently controls blood sugars but decreases the incidence of hypoglycemia.

The correlation between the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, perceived psychosocial impact, and perceived patient autonomy revealed that there are significant relationships among the variables as rated by primary care teams who care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The positive relationships between the variables shows that primary care teams have the perceptions that these variables correspond to diabetes care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors. The negative relationship between the perceived value of tight control and the perceived patient autonomy is noteworthy because tight control requires compliance with a strict treatment regimen, which often decreases patient autonomy and limits their ability to have variation in their care regimen (Sibounheuang et al., 2019). It is difficult to have high patient autonomy and a high value of tight control. These two concepts seem to be at odds with each other. This may be why the perception related to the value of tight control has a negative relationship to the perception of patient autonomy.

The perceived need for special training is important to recognize as primary care teams have recognized that they have identified limitations in their ability to teach diabetes self-management education to patients versus their ability to treat diabetes (Al-Ali et al., 2020; Calenda, 2020; De la Cruz et al., 2019). In recognizing the seriousness of diabetes, primary care teams need to teach and communicate the complex concepts of diabetes to their patients in a way they understand (Kanumilli et al., 2021). Primary care teams' perceptions of diabetes influence their patients' level of engagement in diabetes self-management (Chironda & Bhengu, 2018). The value of tight control is less important for seniors with diabetes (ADA, 2021). The psychosocial impact can be recognized in the measure of quality of life. Barriers to diabetes self-management, including problem recognizing physical changes, and understanding diabetes can negatively affect the quality of life for urban low socioeconomic status seniors (Wu et al., 2019). Patients often find it difficult to operationalize the instructions given to them by the provider, where the providers feels that the patients did not completely follow the directions

(Aweko et al., 2018). The perceptions of primary care teams about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes and patient autonomy influence the care and education that they provide to their urban low socioeconomic status senior patients.

When the variables were considered based on team roles (PCP, nurse, dietitian, or social worker), there were no significant relationships between variables of the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, and the perceived psychosocial impact of diabetes. There was a statistically significant finding related to perceived patient autonomy. These results indicated that the role on the team did not influence the perceptions of diabetes care among primary care team members on the perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, perceived value of tight control, and the perceived psychosocial impact of diabetes for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. Team role did influence perceptions on patient autonomy. Primary care teams are comprised of different members who each play an important and influential role in the care of the patient (Guo et al., 2020). They have diverse skills and knowledge that benefit the patient (Guo et al., 2020). Primary care teams may consist of physicians, physician extenders such as advanced practice nurses and physician assistants, nurses, dietitians, and social workers. Because there were no significant findings except for the perception of patient autonomy, each role on the primary care team has similar perceptions of the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, and the psychosocial impact of diabetes. This creates a cohesive team. Differences in the perception of patient autonomy

may be attributed to different educational frameworks that each profession is based on. This is an area that needs to be further explored.

There was a statistically significant relationship between years of experience and the perceived value of tight control. Team members with less experience did not value tight control as much as their peers with more experience. The more experience a provider had with the urban low-socioeconomic status senior diabetes patient, the more they valued tight control. However, the value of tight control contradicts the current ADA standard that prioritizes quality of life and safety over tight control (see ADA, 2022). The results showed that there is a positive relationship between the years of experience and the value of tight control. New medications can provide the appropriate amount of blood sugar control for geriatric patients without the susceptibility of hypoglycemia (Karagiannis et al., 2021). Furthermore, primary care team members with more experience have a higher perceived value of tight control. Thus, primary care team members need training on the new ADA standards of care for geriatrics that center on quality of life and place less of a focus on tight control. Studies have found that deintensification of blood glucose control in older patients with Type 2 diabetes has better out comes for their overall health and quality of life (Seidu et al., 2019). In this study, I found that primary care teams continued to value tight control for older adults despite the standards of care that have called for a deintensification of medication regimen and blood glucose control.

Theoretical Framework

The health belief model was used to develop the conceptual framework that the role of healthcare providers in primary care impacted the way that they perceived diabetes in the urban low-socioeconomic status population. Using the DAS-3, the perceptions of the need for special training for care providers, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact and patient autonomy were considered. The health beliefs of the primary care team influence their management and treatment of diabetes (Koponen et al., 2017). Also, because of the changes in the ADA standards of care for older adults, the years of experience were considered with the perceived value of tight control. More experienced providers valued tight control and may be practicing under the old guidelines, while providers with less experience may have more exposure to the new guidelines in their education.

The care team's perceptions did not appear to influence their beliefs about the need for special training, the seriousness of diabetes, the psychosocial impact, and patient autonomy. Their role on the team only effected patient autonomy. In addition, their years of experience influenced their perceived value of tight control. The conceptual model seen in Figure 4 is not completely accurate. In contrast, the years of experience influenced their management and treatment of diabetes. The perceived need for special training, perceived seriousness of diabetes, and perceived patient autonomy were not influenced by their role on the team. Instead, the care team's individual perceptions may influence their diabetes management and education, but these are not impacted by their role on the team. The

health belief model helps to understand how people make behavioral changes (Rimer et al., 2005). Diabetes management requires behavior change for treatment, and the primary care team provides the support and education for those changes. The perceptions of the primary care team on the value of tight control influence their urban low socioeconomic status senior's diabetes treatment and management plans. Figure 4 shows that the primary care team characteristics and perceptions influence diabetes management.

Figure 4



Primary Care Team Characteristics and Perceptions

The Standards of Care were developed to guide providers in the highest quality and safest care for their patients (ADA, 2022). The care team's personal health beliefs and knowledge can affect their practice and the way that they care for urban low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes (De la Cruz et al., 2019). The new standards allow for a holistic approach where consideration is given for comorbidities, quality of life, and life expectancy. Health educators can provide ongoing training on the standards of care.

Limitations of the Study

Due to the nature of this study, there were several limitations. This study was limited in nature by its correlational design. The variables that were included in the study were not manipulated; therefore, no causal relationship between variables can be inferred. Because correlational rather than causal results were obtained, this also limits the inferences that were able to be drawn from the results. The population selected to participate in the study was a convenience sample in the health system where I work. Because of the convenience sample, the generalizability of the results is limited. The results cannot be applied to other populations; instead, it is encouraged that the study is replicated to discover the results of other areas. The study was limited due to the time and scope of the dissertation process. The data collection period occurred during a large COVID-19 surge in the areas that placed further social distancing and professional burdens on the sample population. This may have affected their response to the survey as they were considering the heavy burden of COVID-19 on the older adults with poor health status. The use of the survey to collect data also increased the potential for missing data and errors in response selection by participants. Respondents missing more than half of the data were excluded from the variable when the variables were created and

excluded from the final sample. A sample of 132 was needed, and a sample of 150 was collected to account for any missing data. Data collection using interviews would have produced more detailed data, decreased the possibility of misinterpreting the question, and decreased errors in selecting the response. However, due to time constraints and the restriction of social distancing, the survey method was preferred for this study. Caution needs to be used when interpreting these results because of these limitations. Inferences can only be limited to this population. Additionally, the DAS-3 measured attitudes of the providers towards diabetes. It did not ask them directly about their practice of diabetes care. Their attitude towards diabetes could be different than their practice. For example, they may have the perception that older adults with diabetes should have less autonomy with their treatment regimen so that their blood sugars can be strictly controlled, but the provider understands that the practice standard is to allow the patient to have autonomy and participate in their care plan.

Recommendations for Further Study

The current study explored primary care team members perceptions of diabetes. The results of the study showed that there is a positive relationship between years of experience and value of tight control. This relationship needs to be explored further. More detail is needed to discover how primary care teams members of varying years of experience understand tight control. New technologies and medications are currently being developed. Updated diabetes standards of care are released yearly to include use of these technologies and medications for treatment. With new blood sugar monitoring technology and new medications that reduce the incidence of hypoglycemia, tight control may be possible without increasing the burden of diabetes or increasing the urban low socioeconomic status senior risk for fall or other complication (Al-Ali et al., 2020). This study was designed as an exploratory study to determine if there were relationships between provider perceptions and diabetes. The role of an exploratory study is to formulate a problem for more precise investigation. More refinement is needed to better understand the relationships found in this study and develop causal relationships for the outcomes. Specifically, further research is needed to understand why there is a statistically significant difference in the rating of perceived patient autonomy based on team roles (PCP, nurse, dietitian, or social worker) among primary care teams for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. More research is also needed to discover why there is a statistically significant relationship between the perceived value of tight control and years of experience among primary care team members for low socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. More research will give insight as to how to approach education for experienced care team members. The standards of care for diabetes are updated yearly. Education needs to be provided timely and on an ongoing basis to keep working practitioners up to date on the latest care standards.

Implications for Social Change

This study explored the perceptions of primary care teams about diabetes in urban low-socioeconomic status seniors. Primary care teams are the front-line staff for senior populations. They provide ongoing care and treatments to help seniors stay out of the hospital and out of nursing homes. The primary care team plays an important role in providing relevant education at the appropriate learning level to seniors (Al-Ali, 2020). The results of this study identified that there are differences in the value of tight control for senior populations based on the years of experience of the primary care team member. The changes in the standards of care call for looser blood sugar control for seniors with physical and cognitive impairments (ADA, 2022). The health beliefs of the provider may influence the care and treatment that they provide this population.

An opportunity for health educators is to provide education to primary care teams on the new standards of care for older adults. This education would increase the competency of the primary care team and the quality of care that they provide. Since the diabetes standard of care are released yearly, there is an opportunity to provide yearly education to the teams and increase provider engagement in adopting the latest standards of care. There is also an opportunity to provide health education to the urban lowsocioeconomic status senior population. Education on their diabetes care can help them manage their disease and continue to live in the community. By working with this population, health educators can identify gaps in resources that may help seniors stay in their home environments versus going to the nursing home. Primary care teams can benefit from the resources of a health educator for both staff education and patient education.

This study identified primary care team members' perceptions of the value of tight blood sugar control increased with years of experience. This is not in line with the current standard of care. The primary care team members' perceptions of need for special training about diabetes for providers who educate and care for patients, the seriousness of diabetes, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and patient autonomy for urban low socioeconomic status seniors was not impacted by years of experience. The ADA standards of care for older adults has not drastically changed on these topics, instead the standards have evolved as current general practice has evolved. The ADA standards of care have changed for blood sugar control. Primary care teams need to understand the safety risks associated with tight blood sugar control.

Conclusion/Summary

This study explored the perceptions of primary care team members about diabetes in the urban low-socioeconomic status senior population. The perception of primary care team members influences their practice of medicine. Teams are mainly comprised of physicians, advanced practice nurses, physician assistants, nurses, dietitians, and social workers. The team functions to provide comprehensive care for the vulnerable population.

The RQs focused on primary care team members perceptions for diabetes based on team role and years of experience. I used the DAS-3 to collect information from 150 primary care team members who care for urban low-socioeconomic status seniors. The survey was administered over a four-week time fame in January 2022. Data was analyzed using SPSS version 27.

The study found that that there are relationships between primary care teams' perceptions of the need for special training about diabetes, the seriousness of diabetes, the value of tight control, the psychosocial impact of diabetes, and the patient autonomy. The study did not find a relationship between team role and the perceived need for special training, the perceived seriousness of diabetes, the perceived value of tight control, the

perceived psychosocial impact of diabetes, and perceived patient autonomy. However, the study did find an increase in the value of tight control with the years of care team provider experience. As the care and treatment standards of diabetes in the geriatric lowsocioeconomic status patients evolves, health educators play an important role in teaching providers the new standards so that they can provide high quality and appropriate care to the populations that they serve.

References

- Ahmed Mohamed, I., Fisher, A., Cooper, P., & Hussain, S. (2019). Use of continuous glucose monitoring in people with Type 1 diabetes: Perspectives of two people with diabetes and physician perspective. *Diabetes Therapy*, 10(2), 333–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13300-019-0576-8</u>
- Al-Ali, S. A., AlJabr, Q. M., AlAli, S. M., AlHajji, Z. M., AlZuwayid, M. A., Alshakhs, M. A., & Al Haddad, F. M. (2020). Impact of family medicine training on the quality of care for patients of diabetes in Saudi Arabia. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews, 14*(6), 2191–2198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.11.005
- Alanazi, M. (2021). Determinants of successful diabetes self-management behaviors among women of Arab descent with Type 2 Diabetes. *Primary Care Diabetes*, *15*(2), 306–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2020.10.009</u>
- Alatawi, Y. M., Kavookjian, J., Ekong, G., & Alrayees, M. M. (2016). The association between health beliefs and medication adherence among patients with Type 2 diabetes. *Research in Social & Administrative Pharmacy*, *12*(6), 914–925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2015.11.006
- Alshoalah Qasim, M., Nada A., Mukesh K., & Amar K. (2018). Primary care physicians' barriers to initiate insulin in Type 2 diabetes mellitus. A survey from the Eastern Province, Saudi Arabia. *Middle East Journal of Family Medicine, 16*(7), 4–13. https://doi.org/10.5742MEWFM.2018.93470

American Association of Clinical Endocrinology. (2020). Comprehensive Type 2

diabetes management algorithm (2020) – Executive summary.

https://pro.aace.com/disease-state-resources/diabetes/guidelines

American Diabetes Association. (2015). Standards of medical care in diabetes-2015.

Diabetes Care 38(Suppl, 1) 97-111. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaclin.33.2.97

American Diabetes Association. (2018). Statistics about diabetes.

https://www.diabetes.org/resources/statistics/statistics-about-diabetes

American Diabetes Association. (2021). Standards of medical care in diabetes-2021. *Diabetes Care*, *44*, (1), 168-179.

https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/44/Supplement 1

- American Diabetes Association. (2022). Standards of medical care in diabetes-2022. *Diabetes Care*, 40, (1) 10-38. https://doi.org/1S1680.2337/cd22-as01
- American Psychological Association. (2021). Socioeconomic status.

https://www.apa.org/topics/socioeconomic-status/

Anderson, R., Fitzgerald, J., Funnell, M., & Gruppen, L., (1998). The third version of the Diabetes Attitude Scale. *Diabetes Care*, 21(9), 1403-1407. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.21.9.1403

Anjali, C., Olickal, J. J., Arikrishnan, K., Zunatha Banu, A., Sahoo, J., Kar, S. S., & Lakshminarayanan, S. (2021). Development and testing of diabetes complications risk educational tool (DiREcT) for improving risk perception among patients with diabetes mellitus: a mixed method study. *International Journal of Diabetes in Developing Countries*, 41(3), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13410-020-00891-8</u>

Andrich, D., & Foronda, C. (2020). Improving glycemic control and quality of life with

diabetes self-management education: A pilot project. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, *51*(3), 119–123. <u>https://doi-org/10.3928/00220124-</u> <u>20200216-06</u>

- Association of Diabetes Care and Education Specialists. (2020). AADE7 Self-Care Behaviors. <u>https://www.diabeteseducator.org/living-with-diabetes/aade7-self-care-behaviors</u>
- Aweko, J., De Man, J., Absetz, P., Östenson, C.-G., Swartling Peterson, S., Mölsted Alvesson, H., & Daivadanam, M. (2018). Patient and provider dilemmas of Type 2 diabetes self-management: A qualitative study in socioeconomically disadvantaged communities in Stockholm. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(9), 1810-1816. <u>https://doiorg/10.3390/ijerph15091810</u>
- Becker, M. H. (1974) The health belief model and personal health behavior. *Health Education Monographs, 2*, 324- 508.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/109019817400200407

Boakye, E. A., Varble, A., Rojek, R., Peavler, O., Trainer, A. K., Osazuwa-Peters, N., & Hinyard, L. (2018). Sociodemographic factors associated with engagement in diabetes self-management education among people with diabetes in the United States. *Public Health Reports*, *133* (6), 685-691.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354918794935

Burner, E. R., Menchine, M. D., Kubicek, K., Robles, M., & Arora, S. (2014).

Perceptions of successful cues to action and opportunities to augment behavioral

triggers in diabetes self-management: qualitative analysis of a mobile intervention for low-income Latinos with diabetes. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *16*(1), e25. <u>https://doi-org/10.2196/jmir.2881</u>

Bustillos, B. & Sharkey, J. (2020) "I try to keep that sugar down." experiences of homebound older adults with Type 2 diabetes: barriers to self-management, *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics, 39*(1), 69-87, https://doi.org/10.1080/21551197.2019.1695037

- Calenda, P., Federici, G., Ludovico, O., Simonetti, D., Stoico, V., Anichini, R., Brocco,
 E., Caravaggi, C. M., Da Ros, R., Giurato, L., Izzo, V., Meloni, M., & Uccioli, L.
 (2020). Physician experts in diabetes are natural team leaders for managing
 diabetic patients with foot complications. A position statement from the Italian
 diabetic foot study group. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 30*(2), 167–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2019.11.00</u>9
- Carneiro Vicente, M., Ribeiro da Silva, C. R., Lopes Pimenta, C. J., Alves Bezerra, T., Vieira de Lucena, H. K., Valdevino, S. C., & de Freitas Macedo Costa, K. N. (2020). Functional capacity and self-care in older adults with diabetes mellitus. *Aquichan*, 20(3), 1–11. <u>https://doi-org/10.5294/aqui.2020.20.3.2</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). National diabetes statistics report. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/data/statistics/national-diabetes-statistics-</u> report.pdf
- Chironda, G., & Bhengu, B. (2018). Perceptions of caregivers regarding engagement with integrated management of chronic kidney disease patients in selected public

hospitals of KwaZulu-Natal region, South Africa. *Health SA Gesondheid*, 23, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.4102/hsag.v23i0.1104

- Cuevas, H., & Stuifbergen, A. (2017). Perceived cognitive deficits are associated with diabetes self-management in a multiethnic sample. *Journal of Diabetes and Metabolic Disorders, 16*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40200-017-0289-3</u>
- Darville, G., Burns, J., Chavanduka, T., & Anderson-Lewis, C. (2021). Utilizing theories and evaluation in digital gaming interventions to increase human papillomavirus vaccination among young males: qualitative study. *JMIR Serious Games, 9*(1), e21303. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/21303</u>
- Defronzo R. A. (2009). Banting Lecture. From the triumvirate to the ominous octet: a new paradigm for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes*, 58(4), 773– 795. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-9028</u>
- De la Cruz, A. K., Tan, C. C., & Cruz, M. D. (2019). Diabetes-related attitudes of health care providers in rural health centers in Aklan, Philippines using the Filipino version of diabetes attitude scale (DAS-3). *Journal of the ASEAN Federation of Endocrine Societies, 34*(2), 180–188. https://doi.org/10.15605/jafes.034.02.09
- De Man, J., Aweko, J., Daivadanam, M., Alvesson, H. M., Delobelle, P., Mayega, R. W.,
 Östenson, C.-G., Kirunda, B., Kasujja, F. X., Guwattude, D., Puoane, T., Sanders,
 D., Peterson, S., Tomson, G., Sundberg, C. J., Absetz, P., & Van Olmen, J.
 (2019). Diabetes self-management in three different income settings: Crosslearning of barriers and opportunities. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(3), 1–22.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213530

- Evans, M., Morgan, A. R., Patel, D., Dhatariya, K., Greenwood, S., Newland-Jones, P., Hicks, D., Yousef, Z., Moore, J., Kelly, B., Davies, S., & Dashora, U. (2021).
 Risk prediction of the diabetes missing million: identifying individuals at high risk of diabetes and related complications. *Diabetes Therapy*, *12*(1), 87–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13300-020-00963-2
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Funnell, M. M., University of Michigan, & American Diabetes Association. (2014). Life with diabetes: A series of teaching outlines: Vol. 5th edition. *American Diabetes Association*.
- Goethals, E. R., La Banca, R. O., Forbes, P. W., Telo, G. H., Laffel, L. M., & Garvey, K.
 C. (2020). Health care transition in Type 1 diabetes: Perspectives of diabetes care and education specialists caring for young adults. *Diabetes Educator*, 46(3), 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721720918815
- Guo, F., Lin, Y.-L., Raji, M., Leonard, B., Chou, L.-N., & Kuo, Y.-F. (2020). Processes and outcomes of diabetes mellitus care by different types of team primary care models. *PloS One*, 15(11), e0241516. <u>https://doi-/10.1371/journal.pone.0241516</u>
- Harris, E., Alfonso, S. A., Stewart, B., & Moore, M. A. (2021). Patients are unaware of clinical recommendations and resources. *Primary Care Diabetes*, 15(4), 693–698. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2021.03.004</u>

- Hyman, I., Shakya, Y., Jembere, N., Gucciardi, E., & Vissandjée, B. (2017). Providerand patient-related determinants of diabetes self-management among recent immigrants: Implications for systemic change. *Canadian Family Physician Medecin de Famille Canadien, 63*(2), e137–e144.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjd.2013.08.267
- IBM Corp. (2020). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 27.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp
- Jones, K. O., Lopes, S., Chen, L., Zhang, L., Zinzow, H., Jindal, M., Mclain, M., & Shi, L. (2019). Perceptions about mindfulness-based interventions among individuals recovering from opioid and alcohol use disorders: Findings from focus groups. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine, 46,* 131–135.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2019.07.013

- Kalyani, R. R., Golden, S. H., & Cefalu, W. T. (2017). Diabetes and aging: unique considerations and goals of care. *Diabetes Care*, 40(4), 440-443. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dci17-0005</u>
- Kang, M & Hun Park, J. (2021). The effects of COVID-19 on physician's burnout: a systematic review. *Journal of the Korean Medical Association / Taehan Uisa Hyophoe Chi*, 64(9), 636–646. <u>https://doi.org/10.5124/jkma.2021.64.9.636</u>
- Kanumilli, N., Brunton, S., Cos, X., Deed, G., Kushner, P., Lin, P., & Nolte, J. (2021).
 Global survey investigating causes of treatment inertia in type 2 diabetes
 cardiorenal risk management. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications*, 35(3).
 https://doi-org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2020.107813

- Karagiannis T, Tsapas A, Athanasiadou E, et al. (2021). GLP-1 receptor agonists and SGLT2 inhibitors for older people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Res Clinical Practice*, *174*, 108737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2021.108737
- Karl, F. M., Holle, R., Schwettmann, L., Peters, A., Meisinger, C., Rückert-Eheberg, I.-M., & Laxy, M. (2020). Association between unrealistic comparative optimism and self-management in individuals with type 2 diabetes: Results from a cross-sectional, population-based study. *Health Science Reports*, 3(2), e157. https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.157
- Kim, H. & Kim, K. (2017). Health-related quality-of-life and diabetes self-care activity in elderly patients with diabetes in Korea. *Journal of Community Health*, 42(5), 998–1007. <u>https://doi-org/10.1007/s10900-017-0347-2</u>
- Koponen, A. M., Simonsen, N., & Suominen, S. (2017). Quality of primary health care and autonomous motivation for effective diabetes self-management among patients with type 2 diabetes. *Health Psychology Open*, 4(1), 205510291770718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2055102917707181</u>
- Kurnia, M., Amatayakul, A., & Karuncharernpanit, S. (2017). Predictors of diabetes selfmanagement among type 2 diabetics in Indonesia: Application theory of the health promotion model. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 4(3), 260– 265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2017.06.010
- Lee, S. J., Kim, D. Parrott, K. R., Giddings, V. L., & Robinson, S. R. (2019). Financial and health challenges of low-income elderly homeowners aging in place. *Journal*
of Family & Consumer Sciences, 111(2), 31–42.

https://doi.org/10.14307/JFCS111.2.31

- Lee, S.-K., Shin, D.-H., Kim, Y.-H., & Lee, K.-S. (2019). Effect of diabetes education through pattern management on self-care and self-efficacy in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(18), 3323. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16183323</u>
- Lee, S. J., Song, M., & Im, E. O. (2017). Effect of a health literacy-considered diabetes self-management program for older adults in South Korea. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 10(5), 215–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/19404921-</u> 20170831-03
- Leonard, T., Hughes, A. E., & Pruitt, S. L. (2017). Understanding how lowsocioeconomic status households cope with health shocks: An analysis of multisector linked data. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 669 (1), 125–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716216680989</u>
- Miller-Rosales, C., & Rodriguez, H. P. (2021). Interdisciplinary primary care team expertise and diabetes care management. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine: JABFM, 34*(1), 151–161. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2021.01.200187
- Mogre, V., Johnson, N. A., Tzelepis, F., & Paul, C. (2019). Barriers to diabetic self□ care: A qualitative study of patients' and healthcare providers' perspectives. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 28(11/12), 2296–2308. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14835

Mohammadi, S., Karim, N. A., Talib, R. A., & Amani, R. (2018). The impact of self-efficacy education based on the health belief model in Iranian patients with type 2 diabetes: A randomized controlled intervention study. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 27(3), 546–555. <u>https://doi-org/10.6133/apjcn.072017.07</u>

Momentive.ai. 2021. Survey Monkey.

https://www.surveymonkey.com/welcome/sem/?program=7013A000000mweBQ AQ&utm_bu=CR&utm_campaign=71700000059045632&utm_adgroup=587000 05410222026&utm_content=43700049190995539&utm_medium=cpc&utm_sour ce=bing&utm_term=p49190995539&utm_kxconfid=s4bvpi0ju&&msclkid=6ff63 64eeabd1c45e287574c00f279b5&utm_source=bing&utm_medium=cpc&utm_ca mpaign=60_Shared_CR_BR_US_EN_Core_Exact_X&utm_term=surveymonkey &utm_content=CR_BR_US_EN_Core_X&gclid=6ff6364eeabd1c45e287574c00f 279b5&gclsrc=3p.ds

- New Jersey Department of Health. (2019). New Jersey State Health Assessment Data. https://www-doh.state.nj.us/doh
- Nichols, J., Vallis, M., Boutette, S., Gall Casey, C., & Yu, C. H. (2018). A Canadian cross-sectional survey on psychosocial supports for adults living with Type 1 or 2 diabetes: healthcare providers' awareness, capacity and motivation. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, 42(4), 389–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.09.004</u>
- Niknami, M., Mirbalouchzehi, A., Zareban, I., Kalkalinia, E., Rikhtgarha, G., & Hosseinzadeh, H. (2018). Association of health literacy with Type 2 diabetes mellitus self-management and clinical outcomes within the primary care setting of

Iran. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 24(2), 162–170.

https://doi.org/10.1071/py17064

- O'Donovan, A., Oser, S. M., Parascando, J., Berg, A., Nease, D. E., & Oser, T. K. (2021). Determining the perception and willingness of primary care providers to prescribe advanced diabetes technologies. *Journal of Patient-Centered Research and Reviews*, 8(3), 272–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.17294/2330-0698.1819</u>
- Oliveira, R. E. M. de, & Franco, L. J. (2021). Glycemic control in elderly people with type 2 diabetes mellitus attending primary health care units. *Primary Care Diabetes*, *15*(4), 733–736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2021.04.011</u>
- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (2020). *Healthy People 2030*. <u>https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/diabetes</u>
- Padilla, M. E., Frietze, G., Shenberger-Trujillo, J. M., Carrillo, M., & Loya, A. M. (2020). Influenza and intentions to vaccinate in an underserved Hispanic population: the role of theoretically derived constructs. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, *33*(3), 326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0897190018810595</u>
- Pinchera, B., Delloiacono, D., & Lawless, C. A. (2018). Best practices for patient selfmanagement: Implications for nurse educators, patient educators, and program developers. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 49(9), 432–440. https://doi-org/10.3928/00220124-20180813-09
- Putri, L. P., Mawarni, D., & Trisnantoro, L. (2020). Challenges of shifting diabetes mellitus care from secondary- to primary-level care in urban and rural districts: a qualitative inquiry among health providers. *Journal of Primary Care &*

Community Health, 11, 2150132720924214.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2150132720924214

- Reyes, J., Tripp-Reimer, T., Parker, E., Muller, B. & Laroche, H. (2017). Factors influencing diabetes self-management among medically underserved patients with Type II diabetes. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, *4*, 233339361771309.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617713097</u>
- Rimer, B. K., Glanz, K., & National Cancer Institute (U.S.). (2005). Theory at a glance:A guide for health promotion practice. Bethesda, MD: U.S. Dept. of Health andHuman Services, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute.
- Saunders, T. (2019). Type 2 diabetes self-management barriers in older adults: an integrative review of the qualitative literature. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 45(3), 43-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20190211-05</u>
- Schmidt, S. K., Hemmestad, L., MacDonald, C. S., Langberg, H., & Valentiner, L. S. (2020). Motivation and barriers to maintaining lifestyle changes in patients with type 2 diabetes after an intensive lifestyle intervention (The U-TURN Trial): a longitudinal qualitative study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(20) 7454. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17207454</u>
- Schottenfeld L, Petersen D, Peikes D, Ricciardi R, Burak H, McNellis R, Genevro J.
 (2016). Creating patient-centered team-based primary care. AHRQ Pub. No. 16-0002-EF. Rockville, MD: *Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality*. March 2016.

Seidu S, Kunutsor SK, Topsever P, Hambling CE, Cos FX, Khunti K. (2019).

Deintensification in older patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of approaches, rates and outcomes. *Diabetes Obesity and Metabolism*, 21:1668–1679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13724</u>

Sherbuk, J. E., Tabackman, A., McManus, K. A., Kemp Knick, T., Schexnayder, J., Flickinger, T. E., & Dillingham, R. (2020). A qualitative study of perceived barriers to hepatitis C care among people who did not attend appointments in the non-urban US South. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *17*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-020-00409-9

- Shin, K. S., & Lee, E. (2018). Relationships of health literacy to self□care behaviors in people with diabetes aged 60 and above: Empowerment as a mediator. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(10), 2363–2372. https://doi-org/10.1111/jan.13738
- Sibounheuang, P., Olson, P. S., & Kittiboonyakun, P. (2019). Patients' and healthcare providers' perspectives on diabetes management: A systematic review of qualitative studies. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy 16*, (7), 854-874. https://doi-org./10.1016/j.sapharm.2019.09.001
- Starkman, H., Fisher, K., Pilek, N. L., Lopez-Henriquez, G., Lynch, L., & Bilkins-Morgis, B. L. (2019). Listening to adolescents with uncontrolled diabetes, their parents and medical team. *Families, Systems & Health, 37*(1), 30-37 https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000396
- Swaleh, R. M., & Yu, C. (2020). "A touch of sugar": a qualitative study of the impact of health beliefs on Type 1 and 2 diabetes self-management among Black Canadian adults. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, 45 (7), 607-613.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjd.2020.12.002

- Tavakkoli, R., Mahmoodi, M. & Attarian, S. (2018). Study the effect of educational intervention based on the health belief model (HBM) on quality of life among women with gestational diabetes. *Journal of Research in Medical and Dental Science*, 2, 245-252.
- Tu, J., & Liao, J. (2021). Primary care providers' perceptions and experiences of familycentered care for older adults: a qualitative study of community-based diabetes management in China. *BMC Geriatrics*, 21(1), 438. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-021-02380-x
- Tzeng, H. M., Okpalauwaekwe, U., Yin, C. Y., Jansen, S. L., Feng, C., & Barker, A. (2018). Do patients' demographic characteristics affect their perceptions of selfcare actions to find safe and decent care? *Applied Nursing Research*, 43, 24–29. <u>https://doi-org./10.1016/j.apnr.2018.06.020</u>
- United States Census Bureau. (2019). American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates. Census Reporter Profile page for Atlantic County, NJ <u>http://censusreporter.org/profiles/05000US34001-atlantic-county-nj/</u>
- United States Department of Labor Statistics. (2021). Healthcare Occupations. https://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/home.htm
- Vitale, M., Xu, C., Lou, W., Horodezny, S., Dorado, L., Sidani, S., Shah, B. R., & Gucciardi, E. (2020). Impact of diabetes education teams in primary care on processes of care indicators. *Primary Care Diabetes*, *14*(2), 111–118. <u>https://doi-/10.1016/j.pcd.2019.06.004</u>

- Vluggen, S., Hoving, C., Schaper, N. C., & de Vries, H. (2018). Exploring beliefs on diabetes treatment adherence among Dutch type 2 diabetes patients and healthcare providers. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 101(1), 92–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2017.07.009
- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications
- Werfalli, M. M., Kalula, S. Z., Manning, K., & Levitt, N. S. (2020). Does social support effect knowledge and diabetes self-management practices in older persons with Type 2 diabetes attending primary care clinics in Cape Town, South Africa? *PLoS ONE*, *15*(3), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230173</u>
- Whittemore, R., Vilar-Compte, M., De La Cerda, S., Marron, D., Conover, R., Delvy, R., Lozano-Marrufo, A. & Pérez-Escamilla, R. (2019). Challenges to diabetes self-management for adults with Type 2 diabetes in low-resource settings in Mexico City: a qualitative descriptive study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 18(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-019-1035-x
- Wu, F. L., Tai, H. C., & Sun, J. C. (2019). Self-management experience of middle-aged and older adults with Type 2 diabetes: A qualitative study. *Asian Nursing Research*, 13(3), 209–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2019.06.002

Appendix A: Personal Attitudes of Diabetes Questionnaire for Health Professionals I am research provider attitudes about diabetes for urban low-socioeconomic status seniors. I am asking you to help by answering the questions in this survey. Participation is voluntary; you do not have to complete the survey. The questionnaire takes about 5 to 10 minutes to complete.

included with the survey. If you wish to participate in this research, please check the box below, and complete the survey. Thank you very much for your help.

o I understand what I am asked to do in this research study and agree to participate.

Demographic Information

Please answer each of the following questions.

Q1. Profession:

1 Physician (please indicate area of practice)

2 Advanced Practice Nurse

3 Physician Assistant

4 Nurse

5 Dietitian

6 Social Worker

Q2. How many years have you been practicing your profession? _____ yrs

Q3. Age: _____ years old

Q4. Sex: 0 Male 1 Female

Diabetes Attitude Survey

Below are some statements about diabetes. Each numbered statement finishes the

sentence "In general, I believe that..." You may believe that a statement is true for one person but not for another person or may be true one time but not be true another time. Mark the answer that you believe is true most of the time or is true for most people. Place a check mark in the box below the word or phrase that is closest to your opinion about each statement for urban low-socioeconomic status seniors with diabetes. It is important that you answer every statement.

Note: The term "health care professionals" in this survey refers to doctors, nurses, and dietitians.

		Strongly			Stro		
In	ngly Disagree general, I believe that:	Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree		
1.	health care professionals who treat people with diabetes should be trained to communicate well with their patients.						
2.	people who do <u>not</u> need to take insulin to treat their diabetes have a pretty mild disease.						
3.	there is not much use in trying to have good blood sugar control because the complications of diabetes will happen anyway.						

4. ...diabetes affects almost every

	part of a diabetic person's life.		
5.	the important decisions regarding daily diabetes care should be made by the person with diabetes.		
6.	health care professionals should be taught how daily diabetes care affects patients' lives.		
7.	older people with Type 2 [*] diabetes do not usually get complications.		
8.	keeping the blood sugar close to normal can help to prevent the complications of diabetes.		
9.	health care professionals should help patients make informed choices about their care plans.		
10	it is important for the nurses and dietitians who teach people with diabetes to learn counseling skills.		

11. ...people whose diabetes is treated by just a diet do not have to worry

about getting many long-term complications.		
12almost everyone with diabetes should do whatever it takes to keep their blood sugar close to normal.		
13the emotional effects of diabetes are pretty small.		
14people with diabetes should have the final say in setting their blood glucose goals.		
15blood sugar testing is not needed for people with Type 2 [*] diabetes.		
16low blood sugar reactions make tight control too risky for most people.		
17health care professionals should learn how to set goals with patients, not just tell them what to do.		
18diabetes is hard because you never get a break from it.		

- 19. ...the person with diabetes is the most important member of the diabetes care team.
- 20. ...to do a good job, diabetes educators should learn a lot about being teachers
- 21. ...Type 2* diabetes is a very serious disease.
- 22. ...having diabetes changes a person's outlook on life.
- 23. ...people who have Type 2* diabetes will probably not get much payoff from tight control of their blood sugars.
- 24. ...people with diabetes should learn a lot about the disease so that they can be in charge of their own diabetes care.
- 25. ...Type 2* is as serious as Type 1[†] diabetes.

 \square

 \square

 \square

 \square

26tight control is too much work.		
27what the patient does has more effect on the outcome of diabetes care than anything a health professional does.		
28tight control of blood sugar makes sense only for people with Type 1[†] diabetes.		

109

Revised 12/18/98

Appendix B: Sample Population

Heather Santa Barbara <XXX@gmail.com> Mon, Sep 20, 2021 at 1:44 PM

To: XXX@gmail.com

Hi Lynda,

I am a RN and I am in a PhD program for Health Education and Promotion. My dissertation involves a 33-question survey about diabetes in the low-socioeconomic status senior population. I am looking for a sample size of 150 primary care team members from the area who work with this population. Team members include doctors, APNs, PAs, nurses, dieticians, and social workers. I was wondering if I could use your email group as one tool to get the survey out.

Please feel free to reach out to me with any questions. Thank you for your consideration,

Heather Santa Barbara RN, MSN, CDE, NEA-BC

Lynda Stiles <XXX@gmail.com> Mon, Sep 20, 2021 at 2:05 PM

To: Heather Santa Barbara <XXX@gmail.com>

Yes that would be fine

Heather Santa Barbara <XXX@gmail.com> Mon, Sep 20, 2021 at 2:31 PM

To: Lynda Stiles <XXX@gmail.com>

Thank you so much!

I will keep in touch when my proposal is accepted and the survey is ready to distribute.

Appendix C: Permission for Use

From: "Campbell, Pam" <XXX@med.umich.edu>

Date: June 27, 2021 at 1:43:25 PM EDT

To: Heather Santa Barbara <XXX@gmail.com>

Subject: RE: Diabetes Semantic Differential Scales (DSDS)

Dear Heather,

Of course, we just ask that you cite as indicated below.

Pam

From: Heather Santa Barbara <XXX@gmail.com>

Sent: Friday, June 25, 2021 2:56 PM

To: Campbell, Pam <XXX@med.umich.edu>

Subject: Re: Diabetes Semantic Differential Scales (DSDS)

External Email - Use Caution

Hi,

In reviewing the DSDS, I believe that the DAS-3 would better meet my needs. Is it

possible to use the DAS-3 tool? Thank you, Heather Santa Barbara

On Tue, Jun 22, 2021 at 2:48 PM Campbell, Pam <XXX@med.umich.edu> wrote:

Dear Heather,

Please feel free to use our DSDS survey instrument located here:

https://medicine.umich.edu/dept/diabetes/affiliated-centers/michigan-diabetes-research-

center/resources/tools-health-professionals/survey-instruments

We just ask that you please cite our Center as follows: The project described was supported by Grant Number P30DK020572 (MDRC) from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases.

Thank you,

Pam Campbell

Michigan Diabetes Research Center

Michigan Center for Diabetes Translational Research

University of Michigan Medical School

Remember to cite the Michigan Diabetes Research Center (MDRC) and/or the Michigan Center for Diabetes Translational Research (MCDTR) in publications:

"The project described was supported by Grant Number P30DK020572 (MDRC) from

the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases" OR the project

described was supported by Grant Number P30DK092926 (MCDTR) from the National

Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases."

From: Heather Santa Barbara <XXX@gmail.com>

Sent: Tuesday, June 22, 2021 2:42 PM

To: Campbell, Pam <XXX@med.umich.edu>

Subject: Diabetes Semantic Differential Scales (DSDS)

Hi,

I am in the dissertation process at Walden University for a PhD in Health Education and Promotion. My interest is in diabetes self-management and the perspectives of providers. In my literature review I found mentions of the DSDS. I understand that you hold the copyright. Would it be possible to get a copy of this tool and if possible use it in my dissertation? The purpose of the dissertation is to explore the primary care teams perceptions of diabetes self-management in the urban low-socioeconomic status senior population.

Thank you for your consideration,

Heather Santa Barbara RN, MSN, NEA-BC, CDCES